KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY,

KUMASI, GHANA

SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

DEPARTMENT OF CROP AND SOIL SCIENCES

GROWTH AND YIELD RESPONSE OF SOYBEAN VARIETIES TO INOCULATION AND NITROGEN LEVELS

BY

PRUDENCE OWUSU-MENSAH

BSc. Agriculture (Hons.)

NOVEMBER, 2016

WJSAN

BADW

Carsharr

GROWTH AND YIELD RESPONSE OF SOYBEAN VARIETIES TO INOCULATION AND NITROGEN LEVELS

i

KNUST

BY

PRUDENCE OWUSU-MENSAH

(BSc. AGRICULTURE)

A Thesis submitted to the Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Faculty of

Agriculture, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Kumasi, in

partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF PHILISOPHY

IN

AGRONOMY

WJSANE

BADHE

CORSHER



ii

CERTIFICATION

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work towards the MPhil and that, to the best of my knowledge, it contains no material previously published by another person nor material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree of the University, except where due acknowledgement has been made in the text.

PRUDENCE OWUSU-MENSAH

Signature Date

.....

Certified by:

PROF. JOSEPH SARKODIE-ADDO (supervisor)

Signature

NSAP.

DR. ENOCK A. OSEKRE (Head of Department)

Signature

Date

Date

ABSTRACT

Soybean, like any other legume can fix atmospheric N through symbiotic association with native rhizobia but, the amount of N₂ fixed is usually not enough due to existence of ineffective population of native rhizobia. A field experiment was conducted in 2015 at CSIR-CRI demonstration field to study the interactive effect of inoculation and nitrogen fertilization effect on the growth, nodulation and nitrogen fixation, grain yield and protein content, as well as remobilization of N using three soybean varieties. The experiment was a 3x6 factorial experiment laid out in a Randomized Complete Block Design with three replications. The factors were: soybean varieties (Anidaso, Quarshie and Salentuya 1) and the nitrogen sources: (control, 30 and 60 kg N/ha, inoculation alone, inoculation+30 kg N/ha and inoculation + 60 kg N/ha. The seeds were inoculated before sowing. All cultural practices were carried out when needed. The results showed that, inoculated plants of all three varieties established better than their corresponding uninoculated plants. Again, inoculation resulted in significantly greater nodule numbers, nodule dry weight and nitrogen fixation. Also growth, grain yield and protein content were all enhanced following seed inoculation. Application of fertilizer N at grain filling period increased seed yield, especially at the rate of 30 kg N/ha. Lastly, remobilization of N occurred in all treatments, but was greater in treatments with greater availability of N. W J SANE NO BADH

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated with love and appreciation to my supervisor, Prof. Joseph Sarkodie-Addo.



ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Ebenezer, this is how far the Lord has brought me. First, I give thanks to God Almighty whose favour, direction and protection has kept me this far. My sincere appreciation goes to my supervisor Prof. Joseph Sarkodie-Addo, Prof. R. Akromah of Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, KNUST for their devotion and support throughout the period of this research work. My heartfelt appreciation also goes Dr. Stephen Amoah and Dr. J.Y. Asibuo of CSIR-CRI for their immense support and corrections toward this work.

I am grateful to Mr. Frank Adomako, Franklin Bosompem, Mr. Felix, Mr Bofah Henry, Nana Akuoko, Afia Gyaamah, Osofo Appiah, Mr Maxwell Lamptey, Bright and Wilson all of the legumes and oil seed division of CSIR-CRI, Fumesua for their invaluable contribution toward the completion of this work. I would also like to acknowledge the assistance received from Mr. Ulzen Jacob, Mr. Azumah Ayamah and Mr. Caleb Ocansey.

Special thanks to Mr. Godfred Afrifa Owusu, Mr. Stephen Arthur, Mr. Martin Tengan, Mr. Adu Boakye Daniel, Mr. Paul Marno and Snr. Muhamed all of the Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, KNUST for their time and assistance during the field and writing of this dissertation.

Finally, I wish to express my profound gratitude to my parents, Mr. George OwusuMensah and Madam Grace Linda Fordjour for their prayers, encouragement and support throughout my study and to my siblings, Anthony Owusu-Mensah, Eugene Oteng Boafo, Ophelia Agyenim-Boatemaah their support and inspiration. God bless you all.

| CERTIFICATION | i |
|---|-----------|
| ABSTRACT | ii |
| DEDICATION | iii |
| ACKNOWLEDGMENT | iv |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | v |
| LIST OF TABLES | . viii |
| LIST OF FIGURE | ix |
| CHAPTER ONE | 1 |
| 1.0 INTRODUCTION | 1 |
| 1.1 Objectives | 3 |
| CHAPTER TWO | 4 |
| 2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW | 4 |
| 2.1 Origin and history | 4 |
| 2.2 Botany | 6 |
| 2.3 Morphological description | 6 |
| 2.4 Climate and soil | 8 |
| 2.4.1 Soil | 8 |
| 2.4.2 Moisture supply | 9 |
| 2.4.3 Photoperiod and temperature | 10 |
| 2.5 Soil available nitrogen | 10 |
| 2.6 Why N application in soybean is necessary | 11 |
| 2.7 Inoculation | 12 |
| 2.8 Nodulation, biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) and factors affecting BNF | 14 |
| 2.9 Rate of nitrogen application on soybean yield | 18 |
| 2.10 Nitrogen application and remobilization on yield of soybean | 19 |
| 2.11 Inoculation and nitrogen effect on soybean growth and yield | 21 |
| 2.12 Inoculation and nitrogen effect on crude protein content of soybean growth yield | and 23 |
| 2.13 Importance and uses of soybean | 24 |
| CHAPTER THREE | 26 |

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS | . 26 |
|--|------|
| 3.1 Description of experimental site | . 26 |
| 3.1.1 Land preparation | . 27 |
| 3.2 Enumeration of population of soil rhizobia | . 27 |
| 3.3 Inoculation | 28 |
| 3.4 Planting | 28 |
| 3.5 Experimental design and treatments | 28 |
| 3.6 Data collection | 29 |
| 3.6.1. Seedling emergence | 29 |
| 3.6.2 Plant height | 29 |
| 3.6.3 Canopy spread | 29 |
| 3.6.4 Number of leaves | 29 |
| 3.6.5 Number of branches | 29 |
| 3.6.6 Nodule count and effectiveness | . 30 |
| 3.6.7 Nodule dry weight | . 30 |
| 3.6.8 Number of pods per plant | 30 |
| 3.6.9 Pod length | 30 |
| 3.6.10 Number of seeds per pod | 30 |
| 3.6.11 Seed width | . 31 |
| 3.6.12 100 Seed weight | . 31 |
| 3.6.13 Grain yield | . 31 |
| 3.6.14 Harvest index | . 31 |
| 3.6.15 Haulm weight | . 31 |
| 3.6.16 Total N fixation | 32 |
| 3.6.17 N Remobilization between R1 and R5 | 32 |
| 3.6.18 Seed and residue N. | 32 |
| 3.6.19 Crude protein content | 33 |
| 3.7 Cultural practices | 33 |
| 3.7.1 Irrigation | 33 |
| 3.7.2 Thinning | . 33 |
| 3.7.3 Weeding | 33 |
| | |

| 3.7.4 Pest management | 33 |
|--|------------------|
| 3.7.5 Harvesting | 33 |
| 3.8 Statistical analysis | 34 |
| CHAPTER FOUR | 34 |
| 4.0 RESULTS | 34 |
| 4.1 Crop establishment | 34 |
| 4.2 Plant height | 35 |
| 4.3 Canopy spread | 35 |
| 4.4 Number of leaves | 37 |
| 4.5 Number of branches | 37 |
| 4.6 Number of pods | 39 |
| 4.7 Pod weight | 39 |
| 4.8 Pod length | 39 |
| 4.9 Number of seeds per pod | 40 |
| 4.10 One hundred seed weight | <mark></mark> 40 |
| 4.11 Seed N | 42 |
| 4.12 Residue N | 42 |
| 4.13 Total N | 42 |
| 4.14 Number of nodules | 44 |
| 4.15 Nodule dry weight | 44 |
| 4.16 Crude protein | 44 |
| 4.17 Total grain yield | 46 |
| 4.18 Remobilized N | 46 |
| CHAPTER FIVE | 48 |
| 5.0 DISCUSSION | 48 |
| 5.1 Response of soybean growth to N | 48 |
| 5.2 Response of soybean grain yield and yield components | 50 |
| 5.3 Variety, N and crude protein content of soybean | 52 |
| 5.4 Nodulation and nitrogen fixation | 53 |
| 5.5 Variety and treatment effect on N remobilization | 54 |
| CHAPER SIX | 55 |

| 6.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION | 55 |
|-----------------------------------|----|
| 6.1 Conclusion | 55 |
| 6.2 Recommendations | 55 |
| REFERENCES | 55 |
| APPENDIX | 83 |
| KNUST | |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 4.1 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on plant height and |
|--|
| canopy spread of soybean |
| Table 4.2 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on number of leaves |
| and branches of soybean |
| Table 4.3 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on pod number, pod |
| weight, pod length, number of seed per pod and hundred seed weight of soybean |
| |
| Table 4.4 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on seed N, residue N |
| and total N of soybean |
| Table 4.5 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on nodule number, |
| nodule dry weight, total grain and remobilized N of soybean |
| Table 4.6 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on total grain yield |
| and remobilized N of soybean |
| |

LIST OF FIGURE





CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Soybean (*Glycine max* L) is an annual herbaceous plant in the *Fabaceae* (legume or bean family) (Tefera, 2011). It is an economically important leguminous crop on a worldwide scale and also the most important legume in China. Among the important food crops grown in every part of the continent is soybean. The crop can be cultivated in many places with low level of agricultural inputs (Gan *et al.*, 2003; Dugde *et al.*, 2009). Soybean is an important protein source in the diet of humans and ration of animals; containing considerable amounts of all essential minerals, oils, vitamins and amino acids (Tefera, 2011).

The protein content of soybean is around 40% and the oil content is approximately 20% which is also 85% unsaturated and cholesterol-free and also the main source of vegetable oil worldwide. It is recorded as the legume with the highest protein content and vegetable oil among the other crops produced (IITA, 2009). Thirty percent of the oil produced worldwide is from soybean and it also serves as bio-fuel source (Graham and Vance, 2003).

Biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) occurs in many legumes due to symbiotic association with soil rhizobia. Soybeans like other legumes are also able to establish associations with other rhizobia specifically *Bradyrhizobium japonicuin* (Paulo *et al.*, 2009). It is widely known that inoculation of legumes with effective compatible rhizobia can enhance yields through biological nitrogen fixation and this accounts for a substitute and sustainable source of nitrogen for inorganic fertilizers. Introduction of rhizobia in the soil is a practice

that has been used over decades in the absence of compatible rhizobia or when native rhizobia population is low or inefficient to fix nitrogen (Catroux *et al.*, 2001; Deaker *et al.*, 2004; Stephens and Rask, 2000).

Most farmers take advantage of legume-rhizobia associations by applying rhizobia inoculant to seeds or soils. Rhizobial inoculants are available in many formulations: granular inoculants are applied over the soil after sowing (Lupwayi *et al.*, 2006); liquid inoculants are mostly used in large areas, mainly with soybean, in South America (Paulo *et al.*, 2009). However, commercial inoculants are available as solid- in powder from peat or in granular form or as liquid formulation (Stephen and Rask, 2000). Inoculant use accounts for greater root biomass and an increase in nodulation, which increases plant vigour and yield. Even though the cost of inoculation is relatively low, nodule failure is very expensive, as without root nodulation with effective rhizobia, the plants will use soil nitrogen for their growth making the soil nitrogen deficient (Bowen and Hogg, 2010).

Soybean can fix between 50-80% of the nitrogen required (Solomon *et al.*, 2012) but most soybean varieties cannot meet all the N required for growth and development of seeds only through fixation. *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* has been reported to be rarely available in Ghanaian soils because soybean does not originate from Ghana (Okogun and Sanginga, 2003). Moreover, in soils with no previous record of soybean production, bradyrhizobia populations are often not present, and therefore for successful nodule formation, it may require clearly identified bradyrhizobium species for N₂ fixation to be effective (Abaidoo *et al.*, 2007). The success of inoculation however, does not only depend on the inoculant quality and proper inoculation practice but also on the achievement of efficient and effective BNF by considering factors that affect the performance of the rhizobia species such as climatic, edaphic, management factors and legume genotype (Giller, 2001; Sanginga *et al.*,1995; Giller and Wilson, 1991).

In soybean, nitrogen obtained from nodule and fertilizer is the most crucial element for ensuring good growth rate of the source (photosynthetic organs) and also ensuring growth of flower buds at vegetative stage. In effect, nitrogen translocation efficiency from vegetative to reproductive organs has influence on yield at pod filling stage (Nakamura *et al.*, 2010). Reduction of N from the vegetative parts enhances leaf fall and thus limits the photosynthetic ability of the leaf canopy. This results in reduced yield by cutting short the seed filling period (Kumudini *et al.*, 2002).

Several studies have shown that nitrogen fertilizer applied during the reproductive stage (R1 to R5) is likely to increase the capacity and duration of inorganic N utilization periods. Supplying N to soybean plant during the peak of seed demand may supplement N existing resources, thus overcoming premature senescence and increase seed yield (Barker and Sawyer, 2005; Freeborn *et al.*, 2001).

1.1 Objectives

The main objective of this research was to determine the response of soybean to inoculation and different nitrogen fertilizer levels on the growth and yield of soybean.

The specific objectives of the study were to determine the;

 response of soybean to inoculation and their effect on nodulation and nitrogen fixation,

- 2. effect of inoculation on growth, grain yield and crude protein content of soybean,
- 3. effect of nitrogen availability on nitrogen remobilization between R1 and R5

growth stages in soybean.

The above objectives were based on the hypothesis that;

- 1. inoculation of soybean will increase nodulation and nitrogen fixation,
- 2. inoculation will increase growth, grain yield and crude protein content of soybean,
- 3. nitrogen availability on nitrogen remobilization between R1 and R5 growth stages in soybean will positively be affected.

CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Origin and history

Soybean (*Glycine max*) has protein and oil content of approximately 40% and 20% respectively. This crop has the highest protein content and vegetable oil among cultivated

SAN

crops in the world. The total cultivated area of soybean in the world as at 2007 was 20.19 million, whiles total production was 220.5million (FA0, 2009).

Soybean is said to have originated and domesticated the eastern half of North China in the eleventh century B.C. or perhaps a bit earlier (Laswai *et al.*, 2005). Soybean was one of the five main crop plants of China along with rice, wheat, barley and millet. According to early authors, production was localized in China until after the ChineseJapanese war of 1894-95, when the Japanese began the commercial import of soybean oil cake to be used as fertilizer. Soybeans were shipped to Europe about 1908, and it gained world-wide attention and attraction. Awareness of soybean by Europeans was as early as 1712 through the writing of a German botanist. Seeds of soybeans are believed to have been sent from China by some missionaries as early as 1740 and planted in France (Lance and Garren, 2005).

Soybean production developed rapidly in the 1950s in the USA and now USA is the largest soybean producing country world-wide, followed by Brazil, Argentina and China. These countries use various machineries for the commercial production and the commodity rate of soybean is relatively higher (Qiu and Chang 2010). In the late 1980s, soybean cultivation was identified in Africa, although little is known about the country to which it was first introduced but it was likely to have been cultivated earlier on the eastern coast of Africa since that was the region were the Chinese traded (Shurtleff and Aoyagi, 2007). In 1903, the next soybean cultivation in Africa was identified in South Africa at Cedara in Natal and Transvaal. Soybean was later Mauritius and Tanzania in

1907. In Ghana, the first soybean trial was in 1906 with poor results (Shurtleff and Aoyagi, 2009). However, in the late 1960s and early 1970s, research on soybean was at its optimum at CSIR-Crops Research Institute and the Agric Research Station of University of Ghana (Plahar, 2006).

2.2 Botany

Soybean (*Glycine max* L), a self-pollinating legume with 2n = 40 chromosomes. It has 30% carbohydrate, 20% oil and 40% protein and plays an important role in agriculture production world-wide. (Tefera, 2011; Flaskerud 2003). The origin is believed have been derived from *Glysine ussuriensis*, a legume of central China origin (Encyclopaedia Britannica, 2008). The soybean is bushy and erect annual plant which grows to a height up to 2m. The entire body is covered by short brown/white hairs. It has a taproot with deep main root branches extensively with its secondary roots which has spectacular nodulation (Joshi, 2015).

2.3 Morphological description

The soybean is an annual crop with an extensive taproot system, most of it in the soil. The taproots usually grow into the soil and adventitious root grow from the hypocotyls. The leaves are trifoliate and alternate with long petioles and small stipules and stipules; leaves are ovate and lanceolate with mucronate tip (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 2011). The flowers of soybean develop from auxillary bud along the main stem and branches. Inflorescence at each axil is a raceme consisting of 2-35 papilionaceous flowers (Smith, 1995). Flowers are usually self-pollinated but around 1% of cross pollination aided by insects does occur (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 2011). Pods are short stalked and occur in groups of 13-15, 3-7cm long, hairy and light brown at maturity and slightly constricted between seeds (Chaturvedi *et al.*, 2011).

Three types of growth habits are identified with soybean cultivars: determinate, semideterminate and indeterminate. With the determinate, vegetative growth is nearly complete when the plant starts flowering whiles with the indeterminate, both vegetative and reproductive growth go on simultaneously. The semi-determinates have indeterminate stems that terminate vegetative growth unexpectedly after flowering periods (OECD, 2000). The stems are mostly concealed in a mass of hairs which are usually fine in nature. The function of the stem is to provide support to the flowers and leaves and also transport nutrients and water. Growth habits of soybean are erect and bushy and grow to height of 60-140cm depending on the planting date and variety type (Beldfield *et al.*, 2011).

Leaves, pods and stem are covered with fine brown or gray-like hairs. The leaves are trifoliate, having three- four different structures per leaf. Seeds vary in appearance, size, colour and shape, though they are mostly round or oval with a cream seed coat. Flowers have different colours ranging from white, purple and pink, small and usually pea-typed and 5-6mm long. Pod colour ranges from brown or black or yellowish. Fruits of soybean are hairy pods that develop in cluster of three to four seeds (Kumudini, 2010;

Chaturvedi et al., 2011; Rienke and Joke, 2005).

Growth and development of soybean have been marked out in two main stages: the vegetative growth and the reproductive growth. The vegetative growth is distinguished by completely unrolled leaf at the unifoliate node (V1), completely unrolled leaf at the first

node above unifoliate node (V2), three nodes on main stem starting with the unifoliate node (V3) and the N nodes on the main stem starting with the unifoliate nodes (V4) (Nand *et al.*, 2010). The reproductive stage is also characterised by beginning of bloom (R1): one flower is at least present on the main stem, full bloom develops (R2): on any of the top two nodes, flowers can be identified, beginning of pod (R3): pods of 0.5cm in height are found on one of the top four nodes, pods develops fully (R4): pods of 1.9cm in height on one of the top four, seeding begins (R5): seeds of 0.3cm on one of the top four, seeds develops fully (R6): pods are fully filled with seeds on one of the top four, maturity begins (R7): one matured pod is found on the plant and complete maturity (R8): 95% pods change to matured pod colour (Pawel, 2015).

2.4 Climate and soil

2.4.1 Soil

Soybean does well on a wide range of soil but prefer well drained fertile loamy soils. This soil is very suitable for wide range of crops. The crop is intolerant to drought because of the nature of the roots. That is the shallow rooting system of soybean does not support absorption of water especially during the dry season. Therefore, soils with low water holding capacity and shallow soils are not suitable for soybean production

(Beldfield *et al.*, 2011).

Soils with adequate water content are the best for soybean production and enhance germination of seeds and establishment of plant. Waterlog conditions cause harm to soybean between appearances of four-leaf stage. However, it becomes tolerant to waterlog after this stage. Soybean does well on a wide range of soil pH and prefer soil pH of 4.5-8.5. Slightly acidic soils are however also suitable for soybean (Beldfield *et al.*, 2011). Maintaining optimum soil pH of 5.5-7.0 enhances nutrient availability, symbiotic nitrogen fixation and microbial breakdown of crop residue. Soil pH above 8.0 is suitable for soybean growth and even makes micronutrients such as zinc and iron to be deficient (Ferguson *et al.*, 2006). For high grain yield, loamy textured soils are required than clayey soils (Rienke and Joke, 2005).

2.4.2 Moisture supply

Soybean is a rain-fed crop and requires adequate water for growth and development since about 90% of the weight of plant is made of water operating in physiological and biochemical processes (Bilibio *et al.*, 2011). However, it can grow to maturity with as low as 180mm of in-crop rain but 40-60% yield loss is expected compared with favourable conditions for growth. The required rainfall for soybean growth is 4601000mm depending on weather, crop management, duration of crop cycle, soil type and soil moisture stored. Below 180mm of rains, crop failure is likely to occur (Bilibio *et al.*, 2011; Beldfield *et al.*, 2011). According to Rienke and Joke (2005), soybeans have two crucial periods for water requirement: from sowing to germination and time for growth of the bean in the pods. For a seed to germinate, it requires to take up 50% of its weight in water. However, at the germination stage much water causes severe damage than when little water is applied. Soil water saturation level should be between 50-85% to ensure growth. The need for water increases as the crop grow, the maximum requirement is during bean growth (7-8mm per day) and drops again. Excessive rainfall prior to flowering can retard growth and cause lodging whereas waterlogging also have a negative effect on growth and yield (Soybean production guidelines, 2010).

2.4.3 Photoperiod and temperature

Soybeans belong to the legume family which is adapted in the tropics, subtropics and the temperate regions (IITA, 2009). Soybean is greatly influenced by day-length. It is a short day crop which implies that, they flower when the night lengths exceed critical day-length or cannot flower under short nights. Different varieties respond differently to critical day-length it must obtain before plants start to flower (Beldfield *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, timing of development of flowers can be crucial to the adaption of the variety to a geographic location (Kumudini, 2010).

Soybean respond to different temperature ranges but optimum temperature range for growth of soybean is $20-30^{\circ}$ C. Temperature range of 35° C and above are said to have a reduction effect on yields. Soil temperature optimum for germination and early seedling emergence is $25-30^{\circ}$ C (Beldfield *et al.*, 2011). In soybean, induction of flower is controlled mainly by temperature or temperature and photoperiod (Kumudini, 2010).

2.5 Soil available nitrogen

In soils with low mineral N, the amount of N that is fixed is usually high but this only become possible when there is adequate water and supporting nutrients that enhances plant growth (Unkovich *et al.*, 2008). Several research have also shown that, soils with high level of nitrogen in the root area prevents formation, establishment of nodules and activity of nitrogenase (Abdel-Wahab *et al.*, 1996; Peoples *et al.*, 1995) as it requires

minimum amount of energy for legumes to absorb soil N than biologically fixing N from the atmosphere (Cannell and Thornley, 2000). However, as soil mineral content N increases, N fixation is inhibited (Macduff et al., 1996). Gan et al. (2004) reported that, application of starter N enhances the establishment of nodules and fixation of N as compared to no mineral N application in some instances. Application of certain concentrations of starter N that enhances BNF differs with variety used and the conditions surrounding growth of crop but mostly smaller than 4mM for NH₄⁺ and 2mM for NO₃⁻. This according to Keyser and Li (1992) is due to the fact that symbiotic legume-rhizobium may not produce the required N during the early stages of growth needed to meet the N demand mineral N beneficial to help encourage early growth. N fertilizer applied at either vegetative or reproductive growth stage can increase crop biomass and pod by 16% and 44% respectively (Katulanda, 2011). Yinbo et al. (1997) reported that, legume response to N fertilizer application is highly dependent on application rates and time of application. N fertilizer application at R5 (pod filling) stage increases amount of plant N from fixation (Yinbo *et al.*, 1997)

2.6 Why N application in soybean is necessary

Several contrasting statements have been published about response of legumes to nitrogen fertilizer. A report by Keyser and Li (1992) states that, addition of mineral N in the rhizosphere region resulted in increased nodule formation and suppressed functioning, resulting in lower amount of N fixed. Wood *et al.* (1993) stated that in the dry matter of soybean, only 25-60% of N originates from symbiotic fixation whiles the rest comes from soil N. The plant of soybean serves as a sink for N in the soil and use effectively the soil N regardless the source; therefore application of N fertilizers to soybean could be beneficial. A report by Panchali (2011) stated that, if the legumerhizobium association is not able to produce adequate nitrogen especially at the early growth stages to meet the amount of N demanded by plant due to such factors, then lower amount of mineral N application becomes required. The high N demand by legumes may need a high level of N in the soil to bring about yield maximization

(Sosulski *et al.*, 1989). A confirmation by Katulanda (2011) also states that a 44% and 16% increase in crop and pod biomass respectively as to whether N application should be done at either the vegetative or reproductive growth stage. Osborne and Riedell (2006), Kucey *et al.* (1989) and Gan *et al.* (2003) were all in agreement to N fertilizer application to soybean at a particular growth stage to increase its production. Schmitt *et al.* (2001) stated that N fertilized soybean did not give higher oil content and grain yield. Panchali (2011) and Barker and Sawyer (2005) also stated that, N use in soybean at a particular growth may not be recommended. N use in soybean production cannot be left without consideration of factors such as environment, fertilizer type, time and rate of application among others should be considered before drawing conclusion on these controversies.

2.7 Inoculation

At the first introduction of legumes into the soils, nodules formed on root may fail to develop as results of lower population of effective and compactible rhizobium in soil. Thus, addition of rhizobium of appropriate strain is very important where legumes have not been sown or there are no native rhizobia populations (Ledgard and Steele, 1992). Inoculation is aimed at coating legume seeds with adequate rhizobia of appropriate strain to result in rapid and effective nodulation of that particular legume on the field (Sinha, 1997). Inoculant formulations are in various forms which are highly dependent on the method of application. These include liquid or frozen concentrates, inoculated granules, porous gypsum granule and natural peat granules. The most commonly used type is the peat- based inoculant which is applied directly to seeds or in liquid form (Sham *et al.*, 2005).

Peat inoculant is prepared by addition of rhizobia broth culture to sedge peat. Adequate moisture is incorporated to ensure multiplication and growth of rhizobia (Ledgard and Steele, 1992; FAO, 1984). Rhizobia population > 1000/g soil is required for optimising nodulation and fixation of N; thus the main aim of inoculation is to increase the desirable strain rhizobia strain number in the rhizosphere (Lupwayi *et al.*, 2000), therefore increasing BNF and yield of grain. At other times too, inoculation is applied as a security against failure of crops (Deaker *et al.*, 2004) as less production related problems such as producing crops which are N deficient is avoided. In legumes, inoculation with a desirable rhizobium was found to be the most useful agronomic practice in yield maximization (Gudni and Graig, 2003). However, the poor competition with indigenous strains, unfavourable climatic conditions and other related stresses affect their number and viability (Batilan and Johnson, 1995). Per estimate, legumes can fix 200 kg N/ha/year under favourable condition (Giller, 2001).

Legume-N benefit can only be accomplished in the existence of effective and efficient rhizobial strains which can be introduced or native. Inoculation of seeds before sowing is very important and can lead to large rhizobial population establishment in the rhizospere which enhances nodulation and N fixation. Yields of soybean were very low and production of the crop faced a lot of challenges. Most important among them was shortage or absence of effective bacteria for soybean nodulation (Khidir, 1997). For better yields, it has been reported that, the crop should be inoculated with the right rhizobium strain (Hardson and Atkins, 2003).

Inoculation of soybean has been found to be an alternative for nitrogen fertilization. Rhizobium inoculation has also been found to show a great potential as using fertilizer and it is relatively cheaper and enhances plant growth and quality of seeds. Although, addition of N fertilizer in small quantity to the soil improves nodulation, nodule development and fixation of N is drastically reduce when high amount of N concentrations are added to the plants (Ahmed, 2013). In an experiment, Fenin et al. (2002) concluded that, only 6% of native rhizobia population in Ghanaian soils are effective with 68% and 26% been moderately and ineffective respectively which there encourages inoculation. In other field trial in Yamgambi Congo, it was observed that inoculated soybeans increased yields by 80-300% (Shurtleff and Aoyagi, 2009).

2.8 Nodulation, biological nitrogen fixation (BNF) and factors affecting BNF

Soybeans like other legume live in a symbiotic association with soil-dwelling bacteria that help to fix nitrogen through the root nodules. *Rhizobium*-legume relationship is of importance to natural as well as agricultural systems. With soils of limited nitrogen levels, legume roots are infected by nitrogen-fixing bacteria of Rhizobiaceae family, succeed in the formation of root nodules, which serve as habitat and also provide adequate supply of food for bacterial symbiont which also provide anaerobic conditions (such as low oxygen) for the fixation nitrogen (Eckardt, 2006). Development of the root nodule can be grouped into three (3) main stages of preinfection, nodule initiation and differentiation. At initial stage which is the pre-infection stage, flavonoids which are released by the legume root hairs as chemotaxis for rhizobial symbionts and also trigger the nod genes expression (Eckardt, 2006). The expression of the gene produces nod factor which activate series of sequential events including curling of root hair around the rhizobia invading, the invasion of the rhizobia into the plants by the infection thread and the beginning of cell division of the cortex of the root that indicate the nodule formation at the earliest stage. With the presence flavonoids in the layer of soil immediately adjacent plant roots where microbial activities are highest, rhizobia colonize and multiply (Hopkins and Hurner, 2004).

Soybean plants live in symbiotic relationship with nitrogen fixing bacteria (rhizobia) called the *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* (Sarkodie-Addo *et al.*, 2006). The mutual relationship between rhizobium bacteria on the root nodules and the soybean plant is considered the most desirable systems of nitrogen fixation. The soybean bradyrhizobium for example can fix 57.94 kg/ha of nitrogen when the soybean plant is inoculated (Shurtleff and Aoyagi, 2009). *Rhizobium* bacteria which are hosted in the roots of certain legume plants provide carbohydrate for growth of bacteria while the bacteria fix N₂ in the atmosphere into NH₄⁺, which is changed into plants usable amino acids. Rhizobia are able to utilize nitrate in the soil and changing it to gaseous oxide of N by the process of denitrification. This process occurs in various rhizobium and bradyrhizobuim strains (Ledgard and Steele, 1992; Russelle, 2008).

The amount of fixed N is greatly influenced by both the rhizobium and the

characteristics of the host plant. Improved strains of the rhizobium are normally selected in improved BNF in certain special conditions but the strains selected should be capable to establish well in the field and it is dependent on factors including their ability and effectiveness (Ledgard and Steele, 1992). Inoculation has been found to be an important technology for improving productivity of crop and the fertility of soil (Keyser and Li, 1992). Seeds inoculated with rhizobium have been found to increase total N and yield of grains in soybean cultivars.

N requirements of soybean are met in a complicated manner as the crop is able to utilise both soil N and N from the atmosphere (Mrkovack *et al.*, 2008). Nitrogen fixation capacity at the early growth stages is low but increase at a faster rate at later stage. At the R3 and R4 stages, N fixation reaches maximum and begin to decline at R5 which coincide with the time of peak of N demand. R5 stage is characterised by high level of demand of photosynthates from nodules and pods, make easier the energyzation rate of the thylokiod membrane and promote photosynthesis (Diaz *et al.*, 2009).

N fixation process is affected by the physiological states of the host plant. Other environmental conditions negatively affect the growth and activity of the plants that fix nitrogen. Factors such as nutrient deficiency, temperature extremes, salinity, plant disease, mineral toxicity, unfavourable pH, inadequate photosynthesis, grazing and inadequate or excess soil moisture act as limiting factors on host legume vigor (Zahran, 1999).

Salinity effect on legumes can be critical because of their low tolerance to salinity and the high response of the symbiotic nitrogen fixation to stress. Rhizobial infection of root hair

and development of nodules are very responsive to saline conditions (Rao *et al.*, 2002). Colonization of roots by rhizobia is not affected by saline condition but rather new nodules development, growth and efficiency of fully grown nodules are affected (Rao *et al.*, 2002).

Acidic soils have adverse effect on growth, survival and fixation of nitrogen by microorganisms while *rhizobium*-legume relationship is also affected (Bordeleau and Prevost, 1994). Rhizobial colonization in the rhizosphere can be drastically reduced by soil pH extremity (van Jaarsveld *et al.*, 2002). Highly acidic soils (pH < 4) are characterised by extremely lower levels of calcium, phosphorous accompanied with manganese and aluminium toxicity, which have impact on both the rhizobia and host plant. In soils with low pH, nitrogen fixation and nodulation are undesirably affected (Bordeleau and Prevost, 1994).

Temperature changes affect nitrogen fixation and nodulation as the ability of rhizobium strains to compete in native environment is highly affected (Bordeleau and Prevost, 1994). High temperature is one of the limiting factors affecting fixation of nitrogen in the tropics and sub-tropical region. Activity of nitrogenase is extremely reduced due to ineffective nodule formation under high temperature (Hungria and Franco, 1993).

Moisture stress has effect on the morphological changes of rhizobia strains. Some strains have been reported to show irregular forms under low water levels. Reduction in nodulation and infection in legumes are as a result of moisture stress (Zahran, 1999). Nodulation is affected by both drought and soil moisture. Number, weight and size of nodules are affected by drought. The amount of N fixed is greatly dependent on soil moisture availability and is decreased with water stress (Guriqbal, 2010). Carbon shortage, oxygen limitation and nitrogen metabolism regulation are the three main factors related to the effects of drought on BNF (Ladrera *et al.*, 2007). Sinclair *et al.* (2007) also stated that N_2 fixation with dryness of soil causes reduction in yield as a result of insufficient N for production of protein, which is a very crucial product of seed.

Rasmo *et al.* (2003) reported that bacteriods senescence resulted after exposing common bean to ten (10) day moisture stress due to degradation of the cell wall of nodule. Again, conditions such as drought also adversely affect weight of nodule and activity of nitrogenase.

2.9 Rate of nitrogen application on soybean yield

Wood *et al.* (1993) reported that the architecture of soybean plant that supports grain production is highly affected by early season growth. Starter N applied at R1 was found to increase yield. Yields of dry matter recorded at R1 stage were 26 and 30% greater than the zero-N control. Also, according to Valinejad *et al.* (2013), starter N application at R1, R3 and V2-V4 were significantly greater than control (zero-N applied). Application of N early in growth season results in poor formation of nodule and yield increase above soybean with no N applied at a later stage (Elbelhar and Anderson, 2000). However, Gan *et al.* (2003) recorded that, application of starter N at 25kg/ha resulted in the reduction yield, total N accumulated and total amount of N₂ fixed in all three genotypes used. Nitrogen applied at the R3 to R6 has shown positive impact on soybean growth. Application of N was found to have increased grain yield at flowering stage and at early seed pod fill (Wood *et al.*, 1993). A field study conducted at the Islamic Azad University of Tabriz, Iran in 2011 on the effect of nitrogen fertilization of soybean showed that, at seed filling stage, nitrogen demand is very high and that was found to have accounted for leaf fall and remobilization of nitrogen. Addition of 15 kg N/ha was found to have caused a small delay of two (2) days in in fall whereas with full dose, effective vegetative growth was recorded (Golparvar *et al.*, 2012). Other studies conducted by Flavio *et al.* (2004) using two nitrogen rates (100 and 50 kg N/ha) applied at R3 and R5 stages showed an increased soil nitrate availability during seed filling stage following N fertilization. However, no yield responses were observed when irrigated soybean was treated with N fertilization at R3 or R5, even at high yield site of 5,000kg/ha (Freeborn *et al.*, 2001).

Reports from Wesley *et al.* (1999) stated that yield of soybean increased to nearly 12% when nitrogen was applied at R3 growth stage under irrigation. Hatfield and Follett (2008) also reported that increasing nitrogen levels increase yield but oil content is negatively affected with rates of nitrogen levels.

Addition of nitrogen at the R4 growth stage produced a minimal increase of seed protein from 3.72-37.6% (Schmitt *et al.*, 2001). At a rate of 25 kg N/ha, N applied early as top dressing was found to have promoted the total biomass of soybean plant and the N accumulation at the seed filling stage (R5) which increased yield (Gan *et al.*, 2003).

2.10 Nitrogen application and remobilization on yield of soybean

The integral part of all protein is nitrogen and is one of the main macronutrient elements required for plant growth and photosynthesis. Nitrogen is available in most soils with other adequate essential elements in quantities for plant growth (Pro soils, 2013). In

agricultural crop production, available and usable N is the most limiting factor for high yields (Agren *et al.*, 2012). N is limiting because large amounts are taken with crop through harvest and it is easily lost through leaching, runoff or erosion and gaseous exchange. Also, large amount of N is removed because, the grain alone has a high protein content of 40% and the protein contains about 16% N (DuPont, 2014; Salvagiotti *et al.*, 2008).

High yielding newly released cultivars have been found to exhibit higher production of dry matter and N remobilised at seed filling than old cultivars (Shiraiwa and Hashikawa, 1995). Topdressing with N fertilizer could be a sure way to satisfy the high N demand especially at seed filling stage. Topdressing has been found to increase the seed yield and assimilation of N (Nishioka and Okumura, 2008). Gan *et al.* (2003) in an

experiment on the effect of nitrogen fertilizer top-dressing at various reproductive stages concluded that, due to the high requirement level of soybean, N fixation only cannot cater for the amount of N required to maximise yield. Yield increase by N is as a result of its influenced on a number of agronomic and quality parameters. Nitrogen application significantly influenced grain yield due to the role it plays in chlorophyll and amino acid synthesis (Oz, 2008). Mastrodomenica and Purcell (2011) in an experiment stated that part of N is translocated from vegetative tissue across different maturity groups.

Remobilization of phloem –mobile nutrient can lead to rapid reduction on the N concentration in the vegetative shoot that leaf fall is induced and plant behave as _selfdestructing' system (Marschner and Marschner, 2012). Bebeley (2013) showed that remobilization of N only occurred in soybean during the grain filling stage. Again, at R5-

R7 growth stage, N is remobilized from leaves and other plant parts for seed production (Egli, 2010). Nitrogen supplied from fertilizer N during the R1 and R5 stages enhance the duration of mineral N to the utilization periods, while ensuring continual N fixation (Barker and Sawyer, 2005). Mengel *et al.* (2006) reported high significant response to highest N rate (80 kg N/ha) applied on yield and yield parameter. Gan *et al.* (2003) also reported that application of N at 50 kg N/ha significantly increased N accumulation at both yield at V2 or R1 growth stages. Zhao *et al.* (2014) also stated that, leaf N content increases during R1-R5 stages which increases pod number and seed number and declines, therefore, N fertilizer applied can increase seed filling period which subsequently increase yield.7 h

2.11 Inoculation and nitrogen effect on soybean growth and yield

Soybeans have shown different responses to inoculation and nitrogen application at different levels. Mrkovacki *et al.* (2008) indicated that, greatest N content, mass and length was associated with 60 kg N/ha while, higher nodule number, N content and mass were produced with 30 kg N/ha. However, application of 90 kg N/ha reduced nodulation and subsequently reduced inoculated yield since higher N application inhibits infection thread formation which creates a path for the rhizobia to travel from the root hair tip to the internal legume to initiate nodule formation (Eckardt, 2006). In other experiment, it was established that, inoculation alone was inadequate to supply the nitrogen need of the crop at 30 kg N/ha but 60 kg N/ha alone resulted in higher yield. Dry matter, bean yield and weight, number of pods, N uptake and N content of seed were higher at higher N

application combined with inoculant application. However, seed oil content dropped with inoculant and nitrogen application (Ahmed, 2013).

Diep *et al.* (2002) conducted a similar experiment on effect of nitrogen fertilization and rhizobial inoculation on vegetable soybean and concluded that, pods per plant and green pod yield were highest at 25 kg N/ha but at 100 kg N/ha the lowest pod number and pod yield was observed. However, at 50 kg N/ha yield of was slightly reduced. Zhou *et al.* (2006) conducted a study on the effect of rhizobial inoculation and N fertilization on photosynthesis in soybean. It was observed that at R5 growth stage, plant biomass, leaf area and chlorophyll content were found to have improved. Also, stomatal conductance and maximum photochemical efficiency were markedly improved. Plant growth and photosynthesis after rhizobial inoculation were also improved.

Again, Ahmed (2013) conducted a field at the demonstration farm of the Faculty of Agriculture on the interactive effective of nitrogen fertilization and inoculation on soybean yield with 40 and 80 kg ha⁻¹ urea and one strain of rhizobium. The results obtained showed that number of nodule varied with nitrogen fertilizer levels. Also, as rate of nitrogen increases, nodule number and nodule dry weight decreased. Seed yield increased with nitrogen levels and inoculation application as compared inoculated non fertilized control plants by 83-89%. Namva *et al.* (2013) also stated that *rhizobium* showed an increase protein content than that of control but with no effect on oil content in seed.

A similar experiment stated that nodule number per plant, nodule rating, nodule volume per plant and nodule dry weight was influenced by the *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* strains. Dry matter production and nitrogen uptake were highly significant at midflowering stage.

Seed yield, number of seeds per pod, thousand seed weight, and number of pods per plant, total nitrogen uptake and above-ground dry biomass were significantly affected by inoculation with *Bradyrhizobium* strains alone. Varieties however, had no effect on yield and yield components (Solomon *et al.*, 2012).

Another study conducted on the effect of liming, Bradyrhizobium inoculation and nitrogen fertilizer application on nodulation and growth response showed that, the combined effect of liming and bradyrhizobium inoculation increased significantly and increased nodule volume and weight compared with un-limed and non-inoculated treatment application. However, application of nitrogen did not have any significant influence on nodulation parameters of the crop (Bekere *et al.*, 2013).

2.12 Inoculation and nitrogen effect on crude protein content of soybean growth and yield

Inoculation has been shown to increase yield and protein content. An increase in protein content of inoculated soybean was reported by Egamaberdiyeva *et al.* (2004) and Elsheikh *et al.* (2008). Morshed *et al.* (2008) reported a 22% increase in protein content in soybean inoculated with rhizobium. This increase could have been a result that, fixing of N₂ was efficient with the inoculation where adequate N₂ was fixed and translocated to the seeds. Moreover there is enhanced symbiotic association with rhizobium for better growth and yield (Saed and Elsheikh, 1995). Fertilizer N applied at 50 kg N/ha was reported to increase protein content slightly in fenugreek but no significant difference was recorded. This could be because the N fertilizer was applied at sowing and the effect was however not extended to pod filling stage. Gaydou and Arrivets (1983) also obtained

similar results with soybean where N fertilizer did affect protein content significantly. Babiker *et al.* (1995) reported significant increase in protein content of faba bean.

2.13 Importance and uses of soybean

Soybean is a pulse as well as oilseed crop with high yield potential. The seed contains 40% protein and 20% edible oil. The protein content is 5% rich in lysine which is not present in many cereals (Joshi, 2015). The crop can be grown successfully in many states of Nigeria with low levels of agricultural inputs (Dudge *et al.*, 2009).

Soybean is the most nutrient rich, easily digestible and the cheapest source of oil of the bean family. It is consumed as soybean milk, tofu: a curd that resembles cheese, soya kebab and soy sauce in East Asia (Encyclopaedia Britannica, 2008). It is among the few crop plant that provides a complete protein due to the fact that it contains all eight (8) essential amino acids for human health (Soytech, 2015). Soybeans with other legumes have been suggested to reduce cancer risks and low cholesterol in serum. It has also proven as an alternative to a therapy for hormone replacement for postmenopausal in women (Graham and Vance, 2003).

Industrial uses soybeans are numerous. Crushed soybean can be grouped in two components; oil (lecithin inclusive) and protein (meal or flour). Soybean can be processed into flour which can be used soy candy, doughnut milk, meat pie and pancake. The oil can be refined to be used by industries to produce anti-corrosive agents, soaps, shampoo and detergents, core oil, lubricants, diesel fuel, hydraulic fluids, disinfectants, fungicides, herbicides, cosmetics, waterproof cements and metal casting agents (Adu-Dapaah *et al.*, 2004: Graham and Vance, 2003). Other industrial uses of soybean include paints, in
dressing or water proofing for textiles and paint removers (Shurtleff and Aoyagi, 2009). Soybeans like other legumes live in symbiotic association with nitrogen fixing bacteria to fix atmospheric nitrogen. Soybeans specifically form this symbiotic association with *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* and *Sinorhizobium* species. This attribute together with its oil, protein and wide environmental adaptation ensures its continuity to be an important food crop world-wide (Keyser and Li, 1992).

Soybean is used in the formulation of poultry meal in Nigeria. The crop has the potential to increase farmers' income especially when grown as cash crop, improve soil fertility through nitrogen fixation and control *striga*: an endemic parasitic weed that reduces yield and quality of agricultural produce (Dudge et al., 2009). It is a source of protein in livestock feed world-wide. Percentage of crude protein produced per ton is 440-480kg which of high quality and highly digestible (FAO, 2009; Dudge et al., 2009). Soybean can be cooked and eaten as a vegetable. Vegetable soybean is harvested during the late reproductive stage (after R6 and before R7) when pods are still green and development of seed fill is 80-90% (MoFA and CSIR, 2005; Diep et al., 2002). It contains more protein than fish and beef that have about 18% of protein content. Products from soybeans are also cholesterol free and high in fiber, vitamin B1 and B2, calcium and phosphorous and that explains its high demand for health reasons (Greenberg and Huartung, 1998). Haulms obtained after extraction of seed serve as source of feed for cattle, sheep and goat (Dudge *et al.*, 2009). It can be harvested and sown as shelled beans or fresh or frozen pods (Diep et al., 2002).

The crop can help contribute to poverty and malnutrition reduction especially in expecting mothers and children (Myaka *et al.*, 2005; IITA, 2009). Soybeans production can serve as source of employment, income, improve standard of living and quality of animal products and improve human and animal health (Malema, 2005).

CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Description of experimental site

The study was carried out at Council for Scientific and Industrial Research –Crops Research Institute (CSIR-CRI), Fumesua- Kumasi (06°41'N, 01°28'W). The site is located within the semi- deciduous rain forest zone and experiences a bi- modal rainfall. The major growing season starts from April through to June and minor season also stretches from September through to December with an annual rainfall of 1500 mm. Soil in Fumesua is characterised as Ferric acrisols (FAO/UNESCO, 1990).

3.1.1 Land preparation

The land was ploughed and disc-harrowed. Plots measured 2.5 m x 3 m each and 1 alley between plots, 1 m and 2 m between replicates was also constructed.

3.2 Enumeration of population of soil rhizobia

Population of rhizobia in the study area was estimated using the Most Probable Number (MPN) (Vincent, 1970). Viable seeds were sterilized with hydrogen peroxide and alcohol (Somasegaran and Hoben, 1994). The seeds were initially germinated in petri dishes which contained moist cotton wool which was also sterilized. The seeds were incubated between temperature range of 20 °C and 30 °C. Seeds were later transferred to plastic growth pouches which contained Dilworth and Broughton plant nutrient solution (Broughton and Dilworth, 1971) using forceps. The growth pouches were neatly put on a

mxd

wooden rack which was stored in the greenhouse. The number of rhizobia was estimated

using the formula MPN=

Where; m= most likely number in column for number of

dilution d= lowest dilution with series v= aliquot used

for inoculation (1 ml)

WJSANE

3.3 Inoculation

Soybean seeds (var Anidaso -V₁, Quarshie -V₂ and Salentuya I -V₃) were obtained from the Council for Scientific and Research-Crops Research institute (CSIR-CRI) with maturity period between 90 and 110 days. Inoculation was done at the Soil Microbiology Laboratory at KNUST. Soybean seeds (var Anidaso -V₁, Quarshie -V₂ and Salentuya I -V₃) were inoculated with a *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* contained in a peat based inoculant at a rate of 3.5 g per 100 g of seed using the slurry method (Woomer *et al.*, 1994).

3.4 Planting

Planting was done on in October, 2015. Seeds were planted at 3 seeds per hill at 5 cm within row and 60 cm between rows and later thinned to two seeds per hill after two weeks of planting. The uninoculated seeds were planted first to avoid contamination of the inoculated seeds. Refilling was done after one week of sowing.

3.5 Experimental design and treatments

The experiment was a 3x6 factorial trial with treatments arranged in a Randomized Complete Block Design (RCBD) with three (3) replications. The first factor was three soybean varieties (Anidaso, Quarshie and Salentuya 1). All three varieties had maturity period of 90-110 days. The second factor was the N sources (Control, 30 kg N/ha, 60 kg N/ha, inoculation, inoculation+30 kg N/ha and inoculation+60 kg N/ha. The 30 and 60 kg N/ha were applied between R5-R6 growth stages at the beginning of seeding and pod filling respectively). The N fertilizer was applied as sulphate of ammonia by burying the fertilizer in 5 cm dug trenches beside the plants.

3.6 Data collection

3.6.1. Seedling emergence

This was determined at ten days after planting by counting the emerged plants in the three innermost rows. This was expressed as percentage of number of plants to seeds sown.

3.6.2 Plant height

Plant height was measured from five random plants using a metre rule. This was done by measuring the plant from the ground level to the tip of the stem. This was done at 25,

45 and 65 days after planting and means calculated for each treatment.

3.6.3 Canopy spread

Canopy spread was measured from five random plants using a metre rule. This was done by measuring the widest points and the means calculated for each treatment. This was done at 25, 45 and 65 days after planting.

3.6.4 Number of leaves

Number of leaves of soybean varieties was counted at 25, 45 and 65 days after planting and means calculated for each treatment.

3.6.5 Number of branches

Number of branches from the above plants was counted and the means calculated for each plot.

3.6.6 Nodule count and effectiveness

Five plants selected randomly from each treatment were dug with a spade. The plants were washed with clean water to detach the roots from soil. The nodules were removed from the roots and counted. The nodules were cut open with the aid of a knife. Effectiveness was determined with the help of a hand lens. Reddish or pink nodules were declared effective. Nodules were sampled once at flowering.

3.6.7 Nodule dry weight

The nodules were oven dried for 48 hours at a temperature of 70 °C. The nodule dry weights were then determined using a weighing scale.

3.6.8 Number of pods per plant

Five middle rows plants were selected from each plot and all the pods were detached manually and counted. The average pod number was calculated.

3.6.9 Pod length

Five random pods from each treatment were picked and length taken with a measuring rule. Averages were calculated.

3.6.10 Number of seeds per pod

Seed numbers per pod were determined by randomly selecting ten pods per plot and threshing them. Seed were counted, and mean number was calculated for each plot.

3.6.11 Seed width

This was obtained by randomly selecting ten seeds from each plot, and measuring their width with calipers, and their means were calculated.

3.6.12 100 Seed weight

This parameter was measured by counting 100 seeds from each plot and oven drying, and their weights were measured.

3.6.13 Grain yield

Plants from an area from each plot were harvested, sun dried, threshed and winnowed. The grains were oven dried at a temperature of 60°C for 72 hours. The dry weights of the grains were taken.

3.6.14 Harvest index

The harvest index (H.I.) of the crop was obtained using the equation as:

 $Harvest index (H.I.) = \frac{Economic yield}{Biological yield}$

Where;

Economic yield= grain yield

Biological yield= biomass yield

3.6.15 Haulm weight

The haulm of the all the five tagged plants from each plot were dried and weighed and averages were calculated.

SANE

3.6.16 Total N fixation

This was determined by using the N- difference method as described by Bell and

Nutman (1972) with maize as the reference crop. This method relies on Kjeldahl's N

determination which is calculated as:

 N_2 fixed = Total N (fc) – Total N (nfc)

%Nda = Total N (fc) – Total N (nfc) x 100

Total N (fc)

Where; fc = fixing

 $\operatorname{crop} \operatorname{nfc} = \operatorname{non}$

fixing crop

%Nda = proportion of N derived from the atmosphere

3.6.17 N Remobilization between R1 and R5

Sampling was done at the beginning of bloom (R1) and full pod filling stage (R5) at two weeks interval. Plants from each plot were randomly selected and divided into stem and leaves. The plants were oven dried at 80 °C for 48 hours. Using the Kjeldahl's method, N concentration for both parts were determined. The difference in N concentration of the vegetative tissue of R1 - N concentration of the vegetative tissue of R5 was calculated as remobilized N.

3.6.18 Seed and residue N

The plant residues as well as the seeds were milled in a miller, after which nitrogen concentration were determined using Kjeldahl's N determination method comprising of digestion and distillation.

3.6.19 Crude protein content

This was achieved by multiplying the values obtained from seed N by a constant (6.25%) which is the amino acid percentage in soybean.

(NUST

3.7 Cultural practices

3.7.1 Irrigation

Water was supplied to the plants from the early vegetative growth stage through to the pod filling stage after the rains had stopped.

3.7.2 Thinning

This was done at 20 days after planting when soil had enough moisture with seedling establishment. Seeds were thinned to two plants per hill.

3.7.3 Weeding

This was done manually with hoes at second and sixth week after planting to control weeds.

3.7.4 Pest management

Incidence of leaf miners and pod sucking bugs were visually identified on the experimental field. Both insects were controlled with Cypermetrin + Dimethoate 10 EC at 100ml in 15 L of water using a knapsack.

3.7.5 Harvesting

Harvesting was done at physiological maturity when the pods had turned brown.

3.8 Statistical analysis

All data obtained was analysed with Genstat 12th edition. The Least Significance Difference (LSD) was used to determine treatment differences at 5% probability. Count data were log transformed before analyses were run.

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 Crop establishment

The results for crop establishment are presented in Figure 4.1. The results showed that among the inoculated seeds, Salentuya 1 resulted in greatest crop establishment to Quarshie and Anidaso with inoculated seeds of Anidaso resulting in the least crop established. Also, among the uninoculated seeds, Quarshie resulted in the greatest crops established whiles Anidaso resulted in least crops established.



Figure 4.1 Effect of inoculation regime on crop establishment of soybean.

4.2 Plant height

The results of plant height recorded at 25, 45 and 65 DAP are presented in Table 4.1. Varietal effect was significant (P < 0.05) only at 25 DAP, with height of Anidaso plants being significantly higher than in the other varieties. Nitrogen treatment affected plant height on all sampling days. On each sampling date, the inoculated treatment effect was the greater, and this was significantly higher than all other treatment effects, except the inoculation + 30 kg N/ha treatment at 25 and 45 DAP, and also inoculation + 60 kg N/ha at 65 DAP. The control treatment effect was the lowest at 25 DAP, the 30 kg N/ha treatment effect was the lowest at 25 DAP, the 30 kg N/ha treatment effect was the lowest at 25 DAP.

4.3 Canopy spread

The results for canopy spread recorded for 25, 45 and 65 DAP are shown in Table 4.1. Varietal effect showed significant (P<0.05) difference at 25 and 45 DAP only. On both days, the treatment effect of Anidaso was significantly higher than that of the Quarshie variety only. Treatment effects of Quarshie and Salentuya 1 were similar. Varietal differences at 65 DAP was not significant. Canopy spread was significantly affected (P<0.05) by N treatments on all sampling days. At 25 DAP, inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatment effects except inoculation + 30 kg N/ha treatment. Inoculation alone was also significantly higher than sole N and the control treatment. At 45 and 65 DAP, inoculation + 30 kg N/ha treatment all other treatment was greater, and this was significantly higher than all

other treatments, except inoculation alone and inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatment effects. On both sampling days, sole inoculation was significantly higher than the sole N and control treatment (Table 4.1).

Table 4.1 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on plant heightand canopy spread of soybean TreatmentsPlant height (cm)

20.

Canopy spread (cm)

| | 25 DAF | P 45 DAP (| 65 DAP | 25 DAP | 45 DAP | 65 DAP |
|---------------------------|--------|------------|--------|--------|--------|---------------------|
| VARIETIES | | 1 | NU | Y. | | |
| Anidaso | 16.91 | 37.06 | 47.71 | 20.15 | 45.79 | 48.93 |
| Quarshie | 15.36 | 35.86 | 47.44 | 18.16 | 43.07 | 49.62 |
| Salentuy <mark>a 1</mark> | 15.84 | 36.49 | 47.26 | 19.06 | 44.61 | 49.78 |
| LSD (5%) | 0.63 | NS | NS | 1.28 | 2.69 | NS |
| | - | | en l | 12 | Z | 1 |
| N SOURCES | 12 | 34 | | 1995 | Z | |
| Control | 14.02 | 31.17 | 42.52 | 14.00 | 36.37 | 43.96 |
| 30 kg N/ha | 14.04 | 30.90 | 41.56 | 14.01 | 35.41 | 42.90 |
| 60 kg N/ha | 14.46 | 31.04 | 39.91 | 15.02 | 37.29 | 41.17 |
| Inoculation (Ino) | 18.28 | 43.36 | 53.53 | 22.66 | 52.39 | <mark>56</mark> .36 |
| Ino+30 kg N/ha | 18.11 | 41.6 | 54.82 | 24.48 | 54.17 | 57.59 |
| Ino+60 kg N/ha | 17.31 | 40.76 | 52.49 | 24.57 | 51.33 | 54.67 |
| LSD (5%) | 0.90 | 2.22 | 3.02 | 1.82 | 3.80 | 3.20 |
| CV (%) | 5.8 | 6.4 | 6.6 | 9.9 | 8.9 | 6.8 |

4.4 Number of leaves

The results for number of leaves are presented in Table 4.2. There were significant (P< 0.05) differences among the varieties at 25 and 65 DAP. At 25 DAP, treatment effect of Anidaso variety was significantly higher than that of Quarshie variety only. At 65 DAP, the Salentuya 1 varietal effect was significantly higher than that of Anidaso variety only. Leaf production was significantly (P< 0.05) affected by N treatment on all sampling days. At 25 DAP, the inoculated + 60 kg N/ha treatment effects, except those of inoculation only and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha treatments. The sole inoculation was significantly higher than sole N and control treatments. At 45 DAP, inoculation only was significantly higher than all other treatment effect was significantly higher than all other treatment. At 65 DAP, the inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatment effect was significantly higher than all other treatments. At 45 DAP, inoculation higher than all other treatment. At 65 DAP, the inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatment effect was significantly higher than all other treatment.

4.5 Number of branches

Soybean variety did not significantly (P> 0.05) affect branch production on all sampling days (Table 4.2). Nitrogen treatment, however, had significant (P< 0.05) effect on branch production on all sampling days. At 25 DAP, inoculation and its combinations supported similar branch production, but either effect was significantly (P< 0.05) higher than sole N and control treatment effects. At 45 DAP, inoculation only was significantly (P< 0.05) higher than all other treatment effects, except inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatment. At 65 DAP, the control and 30 kg N/ha treatment effects were similar, and either effect was significantly lower than all other treatment effects.

Table 4.2 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on number ofleaves and branches of soybean TreatmentsNumber of leaves

Number of branches

| | 25 DAP 45 DAP 65 DAP | | 25 DAP | 45 DAP | 65 DAP | |
|-------------------|----------------------|-------|--------|--------------------|--------|-------|
| VARIETIES | | | INU | 12 | | |
| Anidaso | 20.15 | 11.00 | 16.33 | 6.22 | 10.61 | 17.78 |
| Quarshie | 18.16 | 11.17 | 16.67 | 5.56 | 11.06 | 18.78 |
| Salentuya 1 | 19.06 | 10.94 | 17.61 | 6.00 | 10.28 | 18.67 |
| LSD (5%) | 1.28 | NS | 1.06 | NS | NS | NS |
| | | - 2 | | | | |
| N SOURCES | | | | | | |
| Control | 14.00 | 8.89 | 13.67 | 4.11 | 8.56 | 14.33 |
| 30 kg N/ha | 14.01 | 8.33 | 14.22 | 4.44 | 7.44 | 14.89 |
| 60 kg N/ha | 15.02 | 8.78 | 17.67 | 4.44 | 8.22 | 19.22 |
| Inoculation (Ino) | 22.66 | 13.89 | 18.78 | 7.56 | 14.11 | 20.89 |
| Ino+30 kg N/ha | 24.48 | 12.78 | 17.67 | 7.56 | 12.44 | 19.44 |
| Ino+60 kg N/ha | 24.57 | 13.56 | 19.33 | <mark>7.4</mark> 4 | 13.11 | 21.67 |
| LSD (5%) | 1.82 | 1.17 | 1.50 | 1.06 | 1.37 | 2.75 |
| CV (%) | 5.5 | 6.0 | 4.6 | 8.4 | 6.8 | 7.8 |
| | | W. | SANE | 10 | | |

4.6 Number of pods

The results for pod number per plant are presented in Table 4.3. There were significant differences among varieties as the Salentuya 1 variety produced significantly greater number of pods than Anidaso variety only. Inoculation significantly (P < 0.05) increased number of pods per plant. Inoculation alone and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha treatment effects were similar, and either effect was significantly higher than all other treatment effects. Among the other treatments, the 60 kg N/ha treatment effect was the lowest, but this was significantly (P < 0.05) lower than sole 30 kg N/ha. All other treatment differences were not significant (P > 0.05).

4.7 Pod weight

The results of pod weight per plant are presented on table 4.3. Varietal effect significantly (P<0.05) affected pod weight, with the Salentuya 1 varietal effect being significantly higher than that of Anidaso. Nitrogen treatment significantly affected pod weight (P<0.05). Inoculation alone and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha supported similar effects, and either effect was significantly higher than all other treatment effects. The 30 kg N/ha treatment effect was also greater than that of the 60 kg N/ha treatment. All other treatment effects were statistically similar.

4.8 Pod length

The results for pod length are presented in Table 4.3. Varietal differences were not significant (P>0.05). Inoculation significantly (P<0.05) affected length of pod. The 30 kg N/ha, inoculation + 30 kg N/ha and inoculation only treatment effects were similar, but

either effect was significantly higher than all the other treatment effects. The control was significantly higher than 60 kg N/ha and the inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatments.

4.9 Number of seeds per pod

The results of number of seeds per pod are shown in Table 4.3. Varietal effect was not significant (P>0.05). Sole application of 30 kg N/ha, inoculation alone, and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha produced similar effects, and each effect was significantly higher than all other treatment effects. The control treatment was significantly higher than 60 kg N/ha treatment effect.

4.10 One hundred seed weight

The results for hundred seed weight are presented Table 4.3. Varietal effect was significant (P<0.05) as weight of Anidaso was significantly lower than those of Quarshie and Salentuya 1. Nitrogen treatments significantly affected mean seed weight. The inoculation + 30 kg /ha N treatment effect was significantly higher than all other treatment effects. Inoculation alone was also greater than that of the control and inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatment effects.

BADY

NO

SAP J W J SANE

| Treatments | Pod number per plant | Pod weight (g) | Pod length (cm) | Number of seeds per pod | Hundred seed weight (g) |
|--------------------------|----------------------------|----------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------------|
| VARIETIES | | 6.28 | | | |
| Anidaso | 103.60 | 103.60 | 3.27 | 2.89 | 13.67 |
| Quarshie | 108.70 | 119.50 | 3.27 | 2.72 | 14.42 |
| Salentuya 1 | 126.50 | 126.70 | 3.31 | 2.83 | 14.87 |
| LSD (5%) | 15.30 | 22.35 | 0.18 | 0.41 | 0.74 |
| | | | | 1 hrs. | |
| N SOURCES | | | | | |
| Control | 96.00 | 95.70 | 3.38 | 2.67 | 12.07 |
| 30 kg N/ <mark>ha</mark> | 100.20 | 110.6 | 3.66 | 3.33 | 14.77 |
| 60 kg N/ha | 75.90 | 77.60 | 2.58 | 2.11 | 14.31 |
| Inoculation | - | 13 | 200 | 1 | 13 |
| (Ino) | 155.80 | 175.6 | 3.79 | 3.22 | 15.04 |
| Ino+30 kg N/ha | 158.70 | 158.10 | 3.89 | 3.33 | 18.36 |
| Ino+60 kg N/ha | 91.00 | 82.20 | 2.41 | 2.22 | 11.37 |
| LSD (5%) | 21.64 | 31.61 | 0.26 | 0.58 | 1.04 |
| CV (%) | 11.2 | 28.4 | 8.2 | 9.3 | 7.8 |
| | AP. | - | | 6 | - Car |
| | ~ | WJ | SANE | NO | 5 |

Table 4.3 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on pod number, pod weight, pod length, number of seed per pod and hundred seed weight of soybean

4.11 Seed N

The results for seed N are presented in Table 4.4. Varieties did not show significance (P>0.05) on seed N. Inoculation alone and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha produced significantly (P<0.05) greater seed N than all the other treatments. Among the other treatments, the 60 kg N/ha treatment produced the lowest seed N than all the other treatment effect.

4.12 Residue N

The results for residue N are presented in Table 4.4. Varieties did not show significance (P>0.05) on residue N but N treatment did. Inoculation alone, Inoculation + 30 kg N/ha, Inoculation + 60 kg N/ha produced and 60 kg N/ha produced significantly greater (P<0.05) residue N than all the other treatment effects. The 30 kg N/ha treatment produced higher residue N than control but was not significant. Among the other treatments, the control treatment produced the least residue N than all the other treatment.

4.13 Total N

The results for total N are presented on Table 4. Total N was significantly greater (P<0.05) in Quarshie than Anidaso and Salentuya 1. Inoculation alone, inoculation + 30 kg N/ha produced significantly greater (P<0.05) N than all other treatment effects. The control treatment and 60 kg N/ha produced similar total N but was not significant. Among the other treatments, the control treatment produced the lowest total N than all the other treatment effects.

| Treatments | Seed N (kg/ha) | Residue N (kg/ha) | Total N (kg/ha) |
|-----------------------------|----------------|-------------------|-----------------|
| VARIETIES | | | |
| Anidaso | 41.70 | 10.05 | 51.75 |
| Quarshie | 42.80 | 9.65 | 52.45 |
| Salentuya 1 | 40.70 | 10.94 | 51.64 |
| LSD (5%) | NS | NS | NS |
| | Mr. | | |
| N SOURCES | | | |
| Control | 43.10 | 6.41 | 49.51 |
| 30 kg N/ha | 48.90 | 7.74 | 56.64 |
| 60 kg N/ha | 40.60 | 9.76 | 49.94 |
| Inoculation (Ino) | 74.90 | 9.34 | 84.24 |
| Ino+30 kg N/ha | 72.50 | 7.56 | 80.06 |
| Ino+60 kg <mark>N/ha</mark> | 50.00 | 8.48 | 58.48 |
| LSD (5%) | 11.02 | 1.93 | 12.27 |
| CV (%) | 27.0 | 23.2 | 23.4 |
| | JAI | ALC . | |

Table 4.4 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on seed N, residue N and total N of soybean

4.14 Number of nodules

The results of number of nodules are presented in Table 4.5. Varietal effect was not significant (P>0.05) on nodule number but N treatment was. Inoculation alone and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha produced significantly (P<0.05) greater nodules than all other treatments. The 30 kg N/ha treatment effect was also higher than the other treatments, all of which produced statistically similar number of nodules.

4.15 Nodule dry weight

Nodule dry weight was significantly higher (P<0.05) in the Anidaso than in Quarshie and Salentuya 1 (Table 4.5). Inoculation alone and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha treatment effects were significantly higher than all other treatment effects. The effect of 30 kg N/ha treatment was also greater than the other treatments.

4.16 Crude protein

Crude protein content was significantly higher (P<0.05) in the Salentuya 1 than in Quarshie and Anidaso (Table 4.5). Inoculation alone and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha, 30 kg N/ha, 60 kg N/ha treatments produced higher crude protein content than the control and inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatment effects. Among the other treatments, the control produced the lowest crude protein content than all the other treatment effect.

| Treatments | Number of nodule/plant | Nodule dry weight (g) | Crude protein (%) |
|-------------------|------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|
| VARIETIES | | IICT | |
| Anidaso | 47.28 | 0.53 | 30.23 |
| Quarshie | 45.83 | 0.48 | 30.19 |
| Salentuya 1 | 46.72 | 0.49 | 33.13 |
| LSD (5%) | NS | 0.03 | NS |
| | | | |
| N SOURCES | | | |
| Control | 22.29 | 0.38 | 33.42 |
| 30 kg N/ha | 51.00 | 0.53 | 35.50 |
| 60 kg N/ha | 62.65 | 0.36 | 36.70 |
| Inoculation (Ino) | 67.33 | 0.70 | 39.80 |
| Ino+30 kg N/ha | 32.67 | 0.71 | 38.79 |
| Ino+60 kg N/ha | 32.67 | 0.33 | 32.67 |
| LSD (5%) | 4.33 | 0.04 | 6.28 |
| CV (%) | 9.7 SANE | 8.4 | 18.33 |

Table 4.5 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on nodulenumber, nodule dry weight, total grain and remobilized N of soybean

4.17 Total grain yield

Varietal differences for grain yield were not significant (P> 0.05) (Table 4.6). Inoculation alone and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha treatment produced significantly greater grain yield than all other treatments. The 30 kg N/ha treatment effect was also greater than the other treatment effects. Additionally, 60 kg N/ha treatment effect was also greater than those of the control and inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatment.

4.18 Remobilized N

The results for remobilized N presented in Table 4.6 showed that, there were no significant (P>0.05) differences among the varieties. The greater amount of remobilized N was in the inoculation + 30 kg N/ha treatment and this was significantly higher than in all treatments, except sole inoculation. Similar amount of N was remobilized in inoculation alone and inoculation + 30 kg N/ha treatments. The least amount of N remobilized was in the inoculation + 60 kg N/ha treatment, but this was similar to the amount from 60 kg N/ha treatment.



46

| Treatments | Total grain yield (kg/ha) | Remobilized N (kg/ha) |
|-----------------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|
| VARIETIES | | |
| Anidaso | 869.00 | 24.41 |
| Quarshie | 843.00 | 25.18 |
| Salentuya 1 | 850.00 | 24.18 |
| LSD (5%) | NS | NS |
| | | |
| N SOURCES | | |
| Control | 432.00 | 23.36 |
| 30 kg N/ha | 1021.00 | 27.06 |
| 60 kg N/ha | 584.00 | 19.09 |
| Inoculation (Ino) | 1356.00 | 29.64 |
| Ino+30 kg N/ha | 1276.00 | 31.51 |
| Ino+60 kg <mark>N/ha</mark> | 444.00 | 17.90 |
| LSD (5%) | 118.10 | 2.20 |
| CV (%) | 14.4 | 9.3 |
| | SANE NO | / |

Table 4.6 Effect of variety, inoculation and N fertilizer application on total grain yield and remobilized N of soybean

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 DISCUSSION

5.1 Response of soybean growth to N

Growth was measured as crop establishment, plant height, canopy spread leaf and branch production. Crop establishment is characterized by ability of seedling to germinate and survive after treatment application. The results obtained showed that inoculated seeds of Anidaso and Salentuya 1 established better than their corresponding uninoculated seeds. Ahmad and Mohammad (2007) reported that rhizobium inoculation resulted in better growth but the growth could be greatly affected by environmental and genetic factors such as soil temperature and moisture content. Gunarto (2000) also reported that the increase in crop establishment could also be due to the enhancement of the productivity of the soil as a result of the activities of the bacteria and nutrients availability. The result of Lampttey *et al.* (2014) is in agreement to the results obtained from this study.

The soybean varieties responded differently in plant height when inoculated with the bacteria *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*. A review by Hungry and Bohrer (2000) indicated significant differences among different cultivars of soybeans inoculated with *Bradyrhizobium japonicm* with respect to plant height. Differences in height of plants could also be as a result of genetic effect (Magani and Kuchinda, 2009). Inoculation of seeds before planting has been found to help promote soybean growth and development (Wafaa *et al.*, 2002). Wu and Wu (1996) stated that inoculation with *Rhizobium japonicum* in soybean resulted in an increased height of crop especially at seedling, production of flowers through to fruiting stages. Amin *et al.* (2008) observed better performance of inoculated

soybean in terms of height than the uninoculated control. Bekere *et al.* (2012), Malik *et al.* (2006), Hernanadez and Cuevas, (2003) and Lampttey *et al.* (2014) reported similar findings in their studies. Similar observations have been made in inoculated lentils (Hoque and Haq, 1994) and in mungbean (Harahap 1994). Inoculation or application of N both makes nitrogen available for plant height. Indeed, N has been described as the most limiting nutrient for plants to increase in height (Salisbury and Ross, 1992; Gardner *et al.*, 1985).

Canopy spread was significantly affected by inoculation across all sampling periods. Plants generally have the potential to attain certain height and canopy width but the size of the canopy is usually dependent on factors such as variety, crop spacing and nutrients available. Stefanescu and Palanciuc (2000) reported that canopy spread being greatest with inoculation was as a result of increased fixation of N and improved nutrition in soybean which usually causes greater and vigorous vegetative growth. The increase in canopy spread in the inoculated plants in this experiment could be as a result of greater N availability for improved growth in shoot of such plants (Ahmed *et al.* 2006). This result is in agreement with the observation of Malik *et al.* (2006) who indicated that inoculation of soybean seeds before planting enhanced the production of growth factors such as larger leaves production. Lampttey *et al.* (2014) and Osei *et al.* (2014) also reported a significant increase in canopy spread with inoculation at different sampling times.

Number of leaves and branches were influenced positively with inoculation. Several researchers have reported on the importance of inoculation on number of leaves and branches. Erman *et al.* (2009) reported that inoculation of seeds before planting increased the number of leaves, leaf area and branches. Similar reports have been made in other

studies including Tairo *et al.* (2013), Zhang *et al* (.2002), Okereke *et al.* (2001) and Hayat *et al.* (2004). Moreover, addition of N fertilizer to inoculated seeds has been found to give the best number of branches and leaves. Stefanescu and Palanciuc (2000) observed that addition 30 kg N/ha to inoculated soybean increased the vegetative growth and yield. Ahmed (2013) reported that, application of a small quantity of N fertilizer (40 kg N/ha) in addition with rhizobial inoculation resulted in a greater number of branches and leaf number in the Sudan. A report by Mrkovacki *et al.* (2008) also indicated that the greatest number of branches and leaves could be obtained when 60 kg N/ha is applied to inoculated soybean.

5.2 Response of soybean grain yield and yield components

Number of pods was greatly affected by inoculation as well as N application. Rhizobium inoculation as well the small addition of N fertilizer has been found to have an influence on pod number. Kazemi *et al.* (2006) reported that rhizobium inoculation resulted in 11% increase in pod number the over control. In another experiment on inoculation of bean cultivars with different bacteria strains, a significant difference was obtained in pod number per plant. This highest pod number per plant was obtained with Maurada inoculated with the bacteria Semia 481. Increased pod number in inoculated plants may also be due to increased number of leaves which influence the production and translocation for greater pod production.

In another experiment, inoculation with *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* increased the number of pods per plant, seed per plant as well as seed weight (Dahmardeh *et al.*, 2010; Morad *et al.*, 2013). Addition of a small quantity of nitrogen to inoculated soybean has been found

to significantly increase yield parameters. Inoculation and application of fertilizer rates up to 30 kg N/ha showed a significant increase in number of pods per plant (Rashid *et al.*, 2000; Hoque and Haq 1994). However, addition of 60 kg N/ha significantly depressed the positive impact of inoculation on number of pods and seed yield. This is in agreement with the findings of Ahmed (2013), Yagmur and Kaydan (2011) who stated that high nitrogen fertilizer doses following inoculation negatively affected the number and effectiveness of rhizobium, which affected nitrogen fixation as well as yield.

In the present study, seed number per pod was significantly influenced by seed inoculation, as has been reported by Solomon *et al.* (2012) and Egamberdiyeva *et al.* (2004). Anjum *et al.* (2006) reported a significant increase in seed number per pod in mungbean when inoculated with *Rhizobium* spp. Azarpour *et al.* (2012) and Karasu *et al.* (2011) in similar experiments reported significance in the number of seeds per pod in inoculated soybean when N fertilizer was applied. However, addition of 60 kg N/ha to inoculated seeds did not show any significant increase in seed number per pod as reported by Ahmed (2013) and Karahan and Şehirali (1999).

Results of this study further indicated that, different varieties of soybean respond differently when inoculated with *Rhizobium* spp in terms of weight of 100 seeds. A review by Hungry and Bohrer (2000) indicated significance difference among different cultivars of soybeans inoculated with *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* with respect to 100 seed weight. Several researchers have reported significance difference in 100 seed weight. Khan *et al.* (2003) in a similar experiment in chickpea indicated that inoculation increased 100 seed weight. Mohamed (2000) also reported significance difference in 100 seed weight for faba bean when inoculated. Osman *et al.* (2010) also reported significance difference in the weight of 100 seed when faba bean was inoculated with *Bradyrhizobium japonicum*. From the experiment, sole application of 30 and 60 kg N/ha applied at pod filling showed a significance difference in 100 seed weight in the varieties. Karasu *et al.* (2011) reported that application of 30 kg N/ha and 60 kg N/ha resulted in significance increase in 100 seed weight. Barker and Sawyer (2005) observed that addition of small doses of N to inoculated seeds increased 100 seed weight.

Inoculation significantly increased total grain yield in the study. The increase in yield in soybean varieties following inoculation might be as a result of soil N availability and adequate soil moisture. This agrees with the findings of Argaw (2014) who stated that genotype and seed inoculation significantly increased seed yield over control. Shrivastava *et al.* (2000) in an experiment stated an average of 11% increase in yield with seed inoculation with *B. japonicum* over control. Lampttey *et al.* (2014) in a similar experiment reported that, seed inoculation significantly increased yield due to increased nodulation and nodule dry weight and stated a 49% increase in pod number per plant and 38% in weight of pod number per plant following inoculation.

5.3 Variety, N and crude protein content of soybean

Inoculation increased crude protein content for all three varieties over their control. This finding confirms that of Elskeikh *et al.* (2000) who reported significant increase in crude protein following seed inoculation. Lucas-Garcia *et al.* (2004) and Rugheim and Abdelgani (2009) reported significance increase in crude protein content following seed inoculation. Morshed *et al.* (2008) reported a 22% increase in protein content in soybean inoculated

with rhizobium. This increase could have been as a result that, fixing of N₂ was efficient with the inoculation where adequate N_2 was fixed and translocated to the seeds. Moreover, there is enhanced symbiotic association with rhizobium for better growth, and protein content yield (Saed and Elsheikh, 1995). JUST

5.4 Nodulation and nitrogen fixation

According to Hansen (1994), the maximum number nodules obtained are known to be different within and between legume species but the present results showed no varietal differences. However, nodule count was significantly increased by inoculation. This is in agreement with Agraw (2014) who stated that rhizobial inoculation significantly increased nodule number and dry weight over control. Melchiorre et al. (2011) and Jonas et al. (2011) in similar experiments stated that response of soybean to inoculation is greatly affected by the number of effective rhizobia in the soil. Several researchers have found inoculation to have a positive correlation with nodulation and nitrogen fixation. Okereke et al. (2004) and Tahir et al. (2009) also reported significant responses to inoculation and higher nodule count compared with the control. The experiment also showed that few numbers of nodules were observed on the soybean plants that were not inoculated. This agreed with Bekere and Hailemariam (2012) that naturalized rhizobia are not very effective nodulators. Ulzen (2013), Okogun et al. (2005) and Chemining'wa et al. (2007), however, reported no significant increase in nodulation and nodule dry weight following inoculation. A report by Singleton and Tavarez (1986) showed that, for a legume to respond positively to inoculation, the native rhizobia population should be higher than 1×10^2 rhizobial cells g⁻ ¹ soil.

5.5 Variety and treatment effect on N remobilization

The results indicated N remobilization in all the varieties, although differences were not significant. Nitrogen remobilization in soybean is a well-known phenomenon, which is as a result of its high protein content (about 40%). Because of its high protein content in the seed, which cannot be supplied by current photosynthesis, the plant tends to remobilize stored N in leaves and stems to the fill seeds (Bebeley, 2013). In this study, the amount of N remobilized was greatest in the treatments with greater total N content. This is an indication that insufficient quantities of N were available to be remobilized.



CHAPER SIX

6.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

ansap 25

H

6.1 Conclusion

This experiment showed that seed inoculation resulted in significantly greater nodule number, nodule weight and nitrogen fixation in the varieties. Vegetative growth in terms of plant height, canopy spread, number of leaves and branches as well as grain yield and protein content were all enhanced following seed inoculation. Furthermore, application of fertilizer N at grain filling period increased seed yield, especially at the rate of 30 kg N/ha and lastly, remobilization of N occurred in all treatments, but was greater in treatments with greater availability of N.

6.2 Recommendations

- i. Combined applications of inoculation and N-fertilizer (30 kg N/ha) seemed to be an appropriate management practice for increasing the productivity of soybean.
- ii. The experiment should be repeated in different agro-ecological zones at different cropping season to ascertain the findings of this study.

REFERENCES

Abaidoo, R.C., Keyser, H.H., Singleton, P.W., Dashielle, K.E. and Sanginga,

N. (2007). Population size distribution and symbiotic characteristics of indigenous

Bradyrhizobium spp. that nodulate TGx soybean genotypes in Africa. App. Soil Ecol. 35:57-67.

Abbey, T.K., Ameyibor, K., Alhassan, A, Essiah, J.W., Fometu, E. and

Wiredu, M.B.(2011). Integrated science for secondary schools.GAST.MOE 75-78.

Abdel-Wahab, H. H., Zahran, H. H. and Abd-Alla, M. H. (1996). Root-hair infection and nodulation of four grain legumes as affected by the form and the application time of nitrogen fertilizer. Folia Microbiol. 41:303–308.

Adu-Dapaah, H.K., Saah, M.K., Owusu-Akyaw, M. and Amoah, S. (2004). Sustainable Sustainable soybean production in Ghana. Paper presented at a radio program on soybean in Ghana 6 pages.

Agren, G.I., Wetterstedt, M.A.J. and Billberger, F.K. (2012). Nutrients limitations on terrestrial plant growth-modelling the interaction between nitrogen and phosphorus. New phytologist. 1469-8137.

Ahmad, N., & Mohammad, R. (2007). Evaluation of promising groundnut, *Arachis hypogaea* L. varieties for yield and other characters. J. Agric. Res, 45(3), 185-189.

Ahmed, F.E. (2013). Interactive effect of nitrogen fertilization and Rhizobium inoculation on nodulation and yield of soybean (*Glysine max* L. Merril). Global journal of biology, agriculture and health sciences. Vol 2(4): 169-173.

Ahmed, Z.I., Muhammad, S.A. and Rauf, C. A. (2006). Effect of Rhizobium

Inoculation on growth and nodule formation of green gram. International Journal for Agriculture and Biology, 8(2):235–237.

Amin, F. Fatima, Z. Zia M and Chaudhary M.F. (2008). Interactive effect of Rhizobium strains and P on soybean yield, nitrogen fixation and soil fertility. Pak JBot, 39(1): 255-264

Anjum, M.S., Ahmed, Z.I. and Rauf, C.A. (2006). Effect of Rhizobium
Inoculation and Nitrogen Fertilizer on Yield and Yield Components of Mungbean.
International Journal of Agriculture & Biology. 8(2): 238–240

Argaw, A. (2014). Symbiotic effectiveness of inoculation with *Bradyrhizobium* isolates on soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merrill) genotypes with different maturities. Springerplus, vol 3, p753.

Azarpour, E., Moradi, M. and Bozorgi, H. R. (2012). Effects of vermicompost application and seed inoculation with biological nitrogen fertilizer under different plant densities in soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) cultivar, Williams). African Journal of Agricultural Research. 7(10): 1534-1541

Babiker, H.M., Ahmed, A.E., Mukhtar, N.O. and Adam, A.I. (1995). Effect of nitrogen fertilization and *Bradyrhizobium* inoculation on the growth, symbiotic properties and yield of pigeon pea (*Cajanus cajan*). Journal of natural resources and environmental studies, 2(1): 27-31.

Barker, D.W. and Sawyer, J.E. (2005). Nitrogen application to soybean at early reproductive development. Agron. J., 97:615-619.

Bashan, Y (1998). Inoculants of plant growth-promoting bacteria for use in agriculture. Biotech Adv 16:729–770.

Batilan, M.C.S. and Johnson, C. (1995). Research evaluation and impact analysis of biological nitrogen fixation. Plant and Soil, 174:279-286.

Beard, B.H. and Hoover, R.M. (1971). Effect of nitrogen on nodulation and yield of irrigated soybean. Agron. J. 63:815-816.

Bebeley, J. (2013). Rate and time of nitrogen fertilizer application on the growth, nitrogen remobilization and yield of soybean *Glycine max* (L).Merrill). MSC Thesis, KNUST: 70 pages.

Bekere, W. and Hailemariam, A. (2012). Influences of inoculation methods and phophorus levels on nitrogen fixation attributes on yield of soybean (*Glycine max* .L) at Haru, Western Ethiopia. Am. J. Plant Nutr. Fertili. Technol. 2:45-55.

Bekere, W., Kebede, T. and Dawud, J. (2013). Growth and nodulation response to soybean (*Glysine max*) to lime, *Bradyrhizobiun japonicum*, and nitrogen fertilizer in acid soils at Melko, south western Ethiopia. International journal of society, 8: 25-31.

Bekere, W., Wolde-meskel, E. and Kebed, T. (2012). Growth and nodulation response of soybean (*Glycine max* L) to Bradyrhizobium inoculation and phosphorus levels under controlled condition in South Western Ethiopia. In African Journal of Agricultural Research. 7(30): 4266-4270. Available online at

http://www.academicjournals.org/AJAR. (Accessed on 9/5/12).

Belfield, S., Brown, C. and Martin, M. (2011). A guide to upland cropping in Cambodia: soybean. ACIAR Monograph No. 146. Australian Center for International Agricultural Research: Canberra 72 pp.

Bell, F. and Nutman, P.S. (1972). Experiment on N fixation by nodulated lucern.T.A. Lie and E.C. Mulder, (EDS). In Biological Nitrogen Fixation and Agricuktural Habitat. Plant Soil Special.231:264

Ben Rebah, F. Tyagi R.D. and Prevost D. (2002). Wastewater sludge as a substrate for growth and carrier for rhizobia: the effect of storage conditions on survival of *Sinorhizobium meliloti*. Bioresour Technol 83:145–15.

Ben Rebah, F., Prevost, D.; Yezza, A. and Tyagi, R.D. (2007). Agro-industrial waste materials and wastewater sludge for rhizobial inoculant production: a review. Bioresource Technology, v.98, p.3535-3546.

Bilibio, C., Hansel, O. and Selbach, J.F. (2011). Sustainable water management in the tropics- and case studies in Brazil (vol 1). Federal University of Lauras, Brazil. Pp. 866.

Bordeleau, L.M. and Prevost, D. (1994). Nodulation and nitrogen fixation in extreme environments. Plant and Soil. 161: 115-125.

Bowen, E. and Hogg N. (2010). Best inoculation technique for pasture legumes. Sustainable agriculture journal. 2(4): 169-173.

Broughton W.J. and Dilworth, M.J. (1971). Control of leghaemoglobin synthesis in snake beans Biochem J. 125(4): 1075–1080

Cannell, M. G. R. and Thornley J. H. M. (2000). Modelling the components of plant respiration: some guiding principles, Ann. Bot. 85, 45–54.

Catroux, G., Hartmann, A. and Revellin C (2001). Trends in rhizobial inoculant production and use. Plant Soil 230:21–30.

Chaturvedi, S., Ozkaya, I., Caliskan, M.E., and Arslan, M. (2011). Biology of Food Legumes, Aditya Pratap and Jitendra Kumar(Eds), Crop Improvement Division, Indiana Institute of Pulses Research, Kanpur, India.CAB International 2011.Biology and Breeding of food Legume. P.44.

Chemining' wa, G., Muthomi, J. W. and Theuri, S. W. M. (2007). Effects of rhizobia inoculation and starter – N on nodulation, shoot biomas and yield of grain legumes. Asian Journal of Plant Sciences 6: 1113 – 1118.

Dahmardeh, M., Ramroodi, M. and Valizadeh, J. (2010). Effect of plant density and cultivars on growth, yield and yield components of faba bean (Vicia fabaL.). African Journal of Biotechnology. Vol.9 (50) 8643-8647.

Deaker, R. Roughley, R.J and Kennedy I.R (2004). Legume seed inoculation technology—a review. Soil Biol Biochem 36:1275–1288.

Diaz, D.A.R., Pederson, P. and Sawyer, J.T. (2009). Soybean response to inoculation and nitrogen application following long-term grass pasture. Crop science, volume 49. Available online at <u>www.crops.org</u>

Diep, C.N., Dary, V.H., Nyau, N.V., Son, M.T. and Duong, T.P. (2002). Effect of rhizobial inoculation and inorganic nitrogen fertilizer on vegetable soybean
(*Glysine max* (L.) Merr.) cultivated on alluvial soil of Cantho Province (Mekong Delta) using ¹⁵N isotope dilution technique. Herridge, D. (Ed). Inoculant and nitrogen fixation of legumes in Vietnam.

Dudge, I.Y., Omoigui L.O., Ekeleme, F., Bandyopadhyay, R., Kumar, P.L. and Kamara A.Y. (2009). Farmers' Guide to Soybean Production in Northern Nigeria.

DuPont Pioneer, (2014). Nitrogen fertilizer for soybean? Available online at http://www.pioneer.com/agronomy_research_summaries/2014_nitrogen fert._soybean

Ebelhar, S.A. and Anderson, A.H. (2000). Late-season nitrogen fertilizer application effects on irrigated soybean yields. College of agricultural, consumer and environmental sciences. University of Illinois, USA.

Eckardt, N. A. (2006). The role of flavonoids in root nodule development and Auxin transport in *Melicago truncatula*. Pant cell. 7: 1539-1540.
Egamberdiyeva, D., Qarshieva D. and Davranov, K. (2004a). The Use of *Bradyrhizobium* to Enhance Growth and Yield of Soybean in Calcareous Soil in Uzbekistan. J Plant Growth Regul. 23:54–57.

Egamberdiyeva, D., Qarshieva, D. and Davranov, K. (2004b). Growth and yield of soybean varieties inoculated with Bradyrhizobium spp in N-deficient calcareous soils. Institute of Microbiology, Uzbek Academy of Sciences, A. Kadiriy str. 7B, Tashkent, 700128, Uzbekistan. **Egli, D.B.** (2010). Soybean yield physiology: principles and processes of yield production. Guriqbal Singh (Ed.), ISBN 978-1-84593-644-0 (alk. Paper).

Elsheikh, A.E.E., Salih, S.S.M; Elhussein, A.A. and Babiker, E.E. (2008). Effect of intercropping Bradyrhizobium inoculation and chicken manure fertilization on the chemical composition and physical characteristics of soybean seed. Food Chemistry, 112(3), pp.690-694.

Elsheikh, E.A.E. and Ahmed, E.I.A. (2000). A note on the effect of intercropping and Rhizobium inoculation on the seed quality of faba bean (*Vicia faba* L.). U of K. J. Agric. Sci., 8: 157-163.

Encyclopaedia Britinnica, (2008). *Glycine max*; soja bean; soya bean. Available online at www.britinnica.com/plant/soybean.

Erman, M., Yildrim, B., Togay, N. and Cig, F. (2009). Effect of phosphorous application and rhizobial inoculation on yield, nodulation and nutrient uptake in field peas. Journal of animal and veterinary advances. 8(2): 301-304.

FAO, (1984). Legumes inoculants and their uses. A pocket manual. FAO, UN, Rome.

FAO, (2009). FAOSTAT, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy. Available at <u>http://faostat.fao.org</u> (accessed 3 December, 2009).

FAO/UNESCO, (1990). Soil classification system. Available online at www.fao.org/documents/en

Fenin, J.O. and Danso, S.K.A. (2002). Variation in symbiotic effective of cowpea bradyrhizobia indigenous to Ghanaian soils. Applied Soil Ecology 21:23-29.

Ferguson, R. B., Shapiro, C.A., Dobermann, A.R. and Wortmann, C.S. (2006). Fertilizer Recommendation for soybeans. NebGuide G859.6pp.

Flaskerud, G. (2003). Soybean production and impact. North Dakota State University, Extension Service, Fargo, North Dakota. Available at: <u>http://www.ag.ndsu.nodak.edu</u>

Flavio, H., Boem, G., Janvier, D., Rimsk-Korsakov and Raul, S.L. (2004). Late season nitrogen fertilization of soybean: effect on leaf senescence, yield and environment, nutrient cycling in Agro-Ecosystem. 68(2): 109-115.

Freeborn, J.R., Holshoulser, D.L., Alley, M.M., Powell, N.L. and Orcutt, D.M. (2001). Soybean yield response to reproductive stage soil-applied nitrogen and foliar-applied boron. Agron. J., 93-1200-1209.

Gan, Y., I. Stulen, I., van Keulen, H. and Kuiper, P. J. C. (2003). Effect of N fertilizer top – dressing at various reproductive stages on growth, N2 fixation and yield of three soybean (Glycine max L. Merr.) genotypes. Field Crops Research 80, 147 – 15 gement. Academic press, USA. P.59.

Gan, Y., Stulen, I., van Keulen, H. and Kuiper, P. J. C. (2004). Low concentrations of nitrate and ammonium stimulate nodulation and N_2 fixation

while inhibiting specific nodulation (nodule DW g^{-1} root dry weight) and specific N₂ fixation (N₂ fixed g^{-1} root dry weight) in soybean, Plant Soil 258, 281–292.

Gardner, F., Pearce, R. and Mitchell, R.L. (1985). Physiology of Crop Plants. Iowa State University Press, Ames, USA, pp: 66.

Gaydou, E.M. and Arrivets, J. (1983). Effects of Phosphorus, Potassium, Dolomite, and Nitrogen Fertilization on the Quality of Soybean Yields, Proteins, and Lipids. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 31, 765-769.

Giller, K.E. (2001). Nitrogen fixation in tropical cropping systems. 2nd edn. Wallingford, United Kingdom, CAB International, 423 pp.

Giller, K.E. and Wilson, K.J. (1991). Nitrogen fixation in tropical cropping systems. CAB International, Willingford, UK.

Golparvar, P., Mirshekari, B. and Borhani, P. (2012). Nitrogen spaying Of soybean at earlier flowering stage will be an ecologically friendly fertilization management and improve crop yield. World applied science journal. 19 (10): 1388-1392.

Graham, P.H. and Vance, C.P. (2003). Legumes importance and constraints to greater utilization. Plant physiology, 131: 872-877.

Greenberg, P. and Hartung, H.N. (1998). The whole soy cookbook: delicious, nutritious, easy-prepare recipe featuring tofu, tempeh and various forms of nature's healthiest bean. Three Rivers Press, New York. P. 175.

Gudni, H. and Craig, A. (2003). Optimizing biological N₂ fixation by legumes in farming systems. Plant and Soil 252:41-54.

Gunarto, L. (2000). Rhizosphere microbes: their roles and potential. J. Penelitian Dan Pengembangan Pertanian, 19, 39-48.

Guriqbal, S. (2010). Water management in soybean. Guriqbal Singh (Ed.), ISBN 978-1-84593-644-0 (alk. Paper)

Hansen, A.P. (1994). Symbiotic N2 fixation of crop legumes: Achievements and perspectives. Centre for Agriculture in the Tropics and subtropics, University of Hohenhein, Germany. Margratverlag, Weikersheim, Germany.

Harahap, A.D. (1994). Effect of Nitrogen Fertilizer on Promising Mungbean Lines. pp. 1–9. ARC-AVRDC Training report

Hardson, G. and Atkins, C. (2003). Optimizing biological N₂ fixation by legumes in farming systems. Plant and Soil, 252: 41–54.

Hatfield, J.L. and Follett, R.F. (Eds) (2008). Nitrogen in the environment, sources, problem and management. Academic Press, USA.

Hayat, R., Ali, S. and Khan, F.S. (2004). Effect of Nitrogen andRhizobiumInoculation on Yield, N uptake and Economics of Mungbean.International Journal of Agriculture & Biology. 6:(3)547-551.

Hernández, M. and Cuevas, F. (2003). The effect of inoculating with arbuscular mycorrhiza and Bradyrhizobium strains on soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merrill) crop evelopment. Cultivos Tropicales, 24(2), 19-21.

Hopkins, W. G. and Huner, N. P. A. (2004). Nitrogen assimilation; in introduction to plant physiology. John Wiley & sons, Pp 167-185.

Hoque, M.M. and Haq, M.F. (1994). Rhizobial inoculation and fertilization of lentil in Bangladesh. Lens Newsletter, 21: 29–30

Hungria, M. and Franco, A.A. (1993). Effect of high temperature on nodulation and nitrogen fixation by *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Plant Soil. 145: 95-102. Hungria,
M. and T.R.J. Bohrer (2000). Viability of nodulation and dinitrogen fixation capacity among soybean cultivars. Biology and fertility of soils, 31:45-52.

Jonas, N.C., Nkonya, E M., Mairura, F.S., Justina, N.C. and Akinnifesi, F.K. (2011). Biological nitrogen fixation and socioeconomic factors for legume production in sub-Saharan Africa: a review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 31:139–154.

Joshi, M. (2015). Textbook of field crops. Copyright at PHI learning private limited, Delhi. ISBN: 978-203-5056-4.

Karahan, A. and Sehirali, S. (1999). The effects of inoculation (*Rhizobium phaseoli*) and various nitrogen doses application on the yield components of

Sehirali-90 (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L. var. Nanus DEKAP) dry bean cultivar under thrace conditions. Pasture, Forage Crops and Edible Legumes. 3: 389-394.

Karasu, A., Oz, M. and Dogan, R. (2011). The effect of bacterial inoculation and different nitrogen doses on yield and yield components of some dwarf dry bean cultivars (*Phaseolus vulgaris* 1.). Bulg. J. Agric. Sci., 17: 296-305

Katulanda, P. (2011). Symbiotic nitrogen fixation and seed development of genetically modified soybean in relation to Bradyrhizobium inoculation and nitrogen use under acidic and saline dykeland soil conditions. MSc thesis submitted to the faculty of graduate studies.

Kazemi, B., Mishra, A., Prasad, K. and Rai, G. (2010). Effect of bio-fertilizer inoculations on growth and yield of dwarf field pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) in conjunction with different doses of chemical fertilizers. J Agron 9:163-168

Keyser, H. H. and Li, F. (1992). Potential for increasing biological nitrogen fixation in soybean. Plant and Soil 141:119–135.

Khan, M.A., Ali, A. and Tanveer, A. (2003). Effect of Seed Inoculation and Different Levels of Phosphorus on the Yield and Yield Components of Chickpea. Pakistan Journal of Life and Social Sciences. 1(2): 106-108

Khidir, M.O. (1997). Oil crop in Sudan. Khartoum University Press. Sudan.
Kucey, R.M.N. and Hyne, M.F. (1989). Populations Rhizobium leguminosarum biovars phaseoli and viceae in fields after bean or pea in rotation with nonlegumes.
Can. J. Microbiol 35:661-662.

Kumudini S. (2010). The soybean: Botany, production and uses, the origin and history of soybean: Soybean growth and development, Guriqbal Singh (Ed.), ISBN 978-1-84593-644-0 (alk. Paper), Pp. 49-73.

Kumudini, S., Hume, D.J. and Chu, G. (2002). Genetic Improvement in ShortSeason soybean: II. Nitrogen Accumulation, Remobilization, and Partitioning. Crop Sci. 42:141-145.

Ladrera, R., Marino, D and Larrainzar, E. (2007). Reduced carbon

availability to bacteroids and elevated ureides in nodules, but not in shoots are involved in the nitrogen fixation response to early drought in soybean. Plant Physiol 145, 539-546.

Lamptey, S., Ahiabor, B.D.K., Yeboah, S. and Osei, D. (2014). Effect of Rhizobium Inoculants and Reproductive Growth Stages on Shoot Biomass and Yield of Soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merril). Journal for Agricultural Science 6(5): 1916-9752.

Lance, G. and Garren B. (2005). Origin, history and uses of soybean (*Glycine max*). Iowa State University. Department of agronomy.

Laswai, H.S., Mpanalile, J.J., Silayo, V.C.K. and Ballegu, W.R. (2005). Uses of soybean in the food formulation in Tanzania. In: Myaka, F.A., Kirenga G, andB. Malema (eds).2006. Proceedings of the First National Soybean Stakeholders

Workshop, 10th –11th November, 2005. Morogoro- Tanzania. Pp. 52-59.

Ledgard, S. F. and Steele, K. W. (I992). Biological nitrogen fixation in mixed/ grass pasture. In Ladha, J. K., George, T. and Bohlool, B. B. Eds. (2013). Biological nitrogen for sustainable agriculture: Extended version of paper presentations. Role of biological nitrogen fixation at the 13th congress of soil science.

Lucas-Garcia, J.A., Probanza, A., Ramos, B., Colo'nFloresand J.J and Gutierrez- Man^ero (2004). Effects of Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria (PGPRs) on the biological nitrogen fixation, nodulation and growth of *Lupinus albusI*. cv. Multolupa. Eng. Life Sci., 4: 71-77.

Lupwayi, N.Z., Clayton, G.W. and Rice, W.A. (2006). Rhizobial inoculants for legume crops. Journal of Crop Improvement, v.15, p.289-321.

Lupwayi, N.Z., Olsen, P.E., Sande, E.S., Keyser, H.H., Singleton, P.W. and Rice, W.A. (2000). Inoculant quality and its evaluation. Field Crop Research 65:259-270.

Macduff, J. K., Jarvis, S. C. and Davidson, L. A. (1996). Inhibition of N2 fixation by white clover (Trifolium repens L.) at low NO3 in flowing solution culture. Plant and Soil 180, 287–295.

Magani, I. E. and Kuchinda, C. (2009). Effect of phosphorus fertilizer on growth, yield and crude protein content of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* [L.] Walp) in Nigeria. Journal of Applied Biosciences 23: 1387 – 1393. Available on www.biosciences.elewa.org. (Accessed on 19/07/2012).

Malema, B.A. (2005). Status of soybean production, utilization and marketing in Tanzania. In: Myaka, F.A., Kirenga, G. and Malema, B. (Eds). 2006. Proceedings

of the First National Stakeholders Workshop, 10th-11th November 2005, Morogoro-Tanzania. Pp. 10-20.

Malik, M. F. A., Qureshi, A. S., Ashraf, M. and Ghafoor, A. (2006). Genetic variability of the main yield related characters in soybean. Intl. J. Agric. and Biol., 8(6), 815-819

Marschner, H. and Marschner, P. (2012). Marschner's mineral nutritition of higher plants. Academic press, Elsevier, USA.

Mastrodomenico, A.T. and Purcell, L.C. (2011). Soybean nitrogen fixation and nitrogen remobilization during reproductive development. Alliance of crop, soil and environmental science. 52(3): 1281-1289.

Mbanya, W. (2011). Assessment of the constraint in soybean production: A case study of Northern region, Ghana. Journal of Development in Sustainable Agriculture 6: 199-214.

Melchiorre, M, de Luca, M.J., Anta, G.G., Suarez, P., Lopez, C., Lascano, R. and Racca, R.W. (2011). Evaluation of bradyrhizobia strains isolated from fieldgrown soybean plants in Argentina as improved inoculants. Biol Fertil Soils. (47):81–89.

Mengel, K., Hutsch B. and Kane Y. (2006). Nitrogen fertilizer application rates on cereal crops according to available mineral and organic soil nitrogen. European Journal of Agronomy, 24, 343–348. **Miyagi, K.M., Kinugasa T., Hikosaka K. and Hirose, T. (2007).** Elevated CO₂ concentration, nitrogen use, and seed production in annual plants. Glob Change Biol 13:2161–2170.

MoFA and CSIR, (2005). Soybean Production Guide. Food crops development project. Ghana's Ministry of Food and Agriculture. 38pp.

Mohamed, A.T.H. (2000). Effect of Fungicides and Rhizobium Inoculation on Symbiotic Properties, Yield and Seed Quality of Faba Bean. Ph.D.

(Agric.). Thesis, University of Khartoum.

Morad, M., Sara, S., Alireza, E., Reza, C.M. and Mohammad, D. (2013). Effects of seed inoculation by Rhizobium strains on yield and yield components in common bean cultivars (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). International Journal of Biosciences. Vol. 3, p. 134-141

Morshed, R.M., Rahman, M.M. and Rahman, M.A. (2008). Effect of Nitrogen on Seed Yield, Protein Content and Nutrient Uptake of soybean (*Glycine* max L.). J Agric Rural Dev 6(1 α 2):13-17.

Mrkovacki, N., Marinkovic, J. and Acimovic, *R*. (2008). Effect of nitrogen fertilizer application on growth and yield of inoculated soybean. Nodulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici. Cluj 36(1): 48-51.

Nakaramura, T., Nakayama, N. and Yamamato, R. (2010). Nitrogen Utilization in the Supernodulating Soybean Variety —Sakukei 4∥ and —T amahomere∥. Plant Production Science 13, 123-131. Namvar, A., Sharifi, R.S., Khandan, T. and Moghadan, M.J. (2013). Seed inoculation and inorganic nitrogen fertilization effects on some physiological and agronomical traits of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*) in irrigated condition. Journal for central European agriculture. 14(3): 881-893.

Nand, K.F., Virupax, C.B., and Jones, C.A. (2010). Growth and mineral nutrition of field crops. 3rd ed. CRC press.

Nishioka, H. and Okumura, T. (2008). Influence of sowing time and nitrogen topdressing at the flowering stage on the yield and pod character of green soybean (Glycine max (L.) Merril). Plant Prod. Sci. 11: 507-513.

OECD, (2000). Consensus document on the biology of *Glycine max* (L) Merr. (Soybean). Organization for Economic Co-operative and Development.

Okereke, G. U., Onochie, C., Onunkwo, A., and Onyeagba, E. (2001). Effectiveness of foreign bradyrhizobia strains in enhancing nodulation, dry matter and seed yield of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) cultivars in Nigeria.Biology and fertility of soils, 33(1), 3-9.

Okereke, G.U., Onochie, C., Onunkwo. A., Onyeagba, E. (2004). Effectiveness of foreign bradyrhizobia strains in enhancing nodulation, dry matter and seed yield of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) cultivars in Nigeria. Biol. Fertil. Soils 33: 3 – 9.

Okogun, J. A., Sanginga, N., Abaidoo, R., Dashiell, K. E. and Diels, J. (2005). On -farm evaluation of biological nitrogen fixation potential and grain yield of Lablab and two soybean varieties in the northern Guinea savannah of Nigeria. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 73: 267 – 275.

Okogun, J.A. and Sanginga, N. (2003). Can introduced and indigenous rhizobia strains compete for nodule formation by promiscuous soybean in the most savannah agro ecological zone of Nigeria. Biol Fertil Soils 38:26-31.

Osborne, S.L. and Riedell, W.E. (2006). Soybean growth responses to low rates of nitrogen applied at planting in the Northern Great Plains. Journal of plant nutrition 29:985-1002.

Osei, D., Lamptey, S., Ayisi, C.L. and Apraku, A. (2014). Effects of Rhizobium inoculants and growth stages on shoot biomass and yield of soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merril). International Journal of Scientific and Technology Research 3(4): 2277-8616.

Osman, A.G., Elaziz, F. I. A. and El-Hassan, G. A. (2010). Effects of Biological and Mineral Fertilization on Yield, Chemical Composition and Physical Characteristics of Faba Bean (*Vicia faba* L.) Cultivar Seleim. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition. 9 (7): 703-708

Oz, M. (2008). Nitrogen rate and plant population effects on yield and yield components in soybean. African journal of biotechnology, 7 (24): 4464-4470. Available online at http://www.academicjournal.org/AJB

Panchali, K. (2011). Symbiotic nitrogen fixation and seed development of genetically modified soybean in relation to Bradyrhizobium inoculation and

nitrogen use under acidic and saline dykeeland and soil conditons. MSc thesis submitted to Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova scotia, pp 45.

Paulo, I.F.J., Tiago, G.R., Paulo, J.O., Gustavo, R.X. and Norma, G.R. (2009). Polymers as carrier for rhizobial inoculant formulations. Available at <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X2009000900017</u>

Pawel, W. (2015). Soybean vegetative and generative growth stage: Clemson University Cooperative Extension Service, Clemson, South Carolina.

Peoples, M.B. Herridge, D.F. and Ladha, J.K. (1995). Biological nitrogen fixation: an efficient source of nitrogen for sustainable agricultural production. Plant and soil, 174: 2 - 28.

Pro soil, (2013). Nitrogen, phosphorous and potassium and their role in agricultural crop production. Available online at <u>www.pro-soil.com/soilnutrition-</u><u>elements-and theirrole</u>

Qiu, L.J. and Ru-Zhen Chang. (2010). The soybean: Botany, production and uses, the origin and history of soybean, Guriqbal Singh (Ed.), ISBN 978-184593-644-0 (alk. Paper).

Rao, D.L., Giller, K.T. and Flowers, J.T. (2002). Effect of salinity and solidicity upon nodulation and nitrogen fixation in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*).

Oxford journals, science and mathematics, annals of botany. Volume 89, issue 5, Pp 565-570.

Rashid, A., Musa, M., Aadal, N.K., Yaqub, M. and Chaudhry, G.A. (2000). Response of groundnut to Bradyrhizobium and a Diazotroph bacterial inoculum under different levels of nitrogen. Pakistan J. Soil., 16: 89–98

Rasmo, M.L.G., Parson, R., Sprent, J.I. and James, E.K. (2003). Effect of water stress on nitrogen fixation and nodule structure of common bean. Brasilia. 38(3): 339-347.

Rienke, N. and Joke, N. (2005). Cultivation of soya and other legumes. Agrodokseries NO.10.Agromisa. CTA publication. 69 pages.

Rugheim, A.M. and Abdelgani, M.E. (2009). Effects of microbial and chemical fertilization on yield and seed quality of faba bean. 9 Conference of the African Crop Science Society: Science and Technology Supporting Food Security in Africa. Cape Town, South Africa 28 September -1 October 2009.

Russelle, M.P. (2008). Biological nitrogen fixation in agriculture. In nitrogen in agricultural systems. Schpers, J.S. and Raun, W.R. Eds., Agronomy Monography. Madison. USA. Chapter 9.

Saed, H. A. and Elsheikh, E. A. E. (1995). Response of fenugreek (*Trigonella foenumgraecum*) to inoculation as influenced by salinity, soil texture, chicken manure and nitrogen. University of Khartoum Journal of Agricultural Sciences 3, 77-90.

Salisbury, F.B. and Ross, C. (1992). (4th ed.) Plant Physiology. Wadsworth, Belmont, CA.

Salvagiotti, F., Cassma, K.G., Spech, J.E., Walter, D.T. and Dobermann, A. (2008). Nitrogen uptake, fixation and response to fertilizer N in soybean: a review. Elsevier. Field crop research. 108(2008) 1-3.

Sanginga, N., Valanwe, B. and Danso, S.K.A. (1995). Management of biological N₂ fixation in alley cropping system. Estimation and contribution of N balances. Plant and Soil 174:11-141.

Sarkodie-Addo, J., Adu-Dapaah, H. K., Ewusi-Mensah, N. and Asare, E. (2006). Evaluation of medium maturing soybean for their nitrogen fixation potentials. Journal of Science and Technology. 26(2): 34-39.

Schmitt, M.A., Lamb, J.A., Randall, G.W., Orf, J.H and Rehm, G.W. (2001). In season fertilizer nitrogen applications for soybean in Minnesota. Agronomy journal 93: 983-988.

Sham, S. G., Tischner, R. and Basra A. S. Eds (2005). Enhancing the efficiency of nitrogen utilization in plants. Journal for crop improvement. Volume 15, 2(30).

Shiferaw, B. and Batilan, C. (2004). Rural poverty and natural resources management in less-favoured areas: Revisiting challenge and conceptual issues.
Journal of food, Agriculture and Environment, 2(1):328-339.

Shiraiwa, T. and Hashikawa, U. (1995). Accumulation and partitioning of nitrogen during seed filling in old and modern soybean cultivars in relation to seed production. Jpn. J. Crop Sci. 64 : 754-759.

Shrivastava, U.K., Rajput, R.L. and Dwivedi, M.L. (2000). Response of soybean-mustard cropping system to sulfur and bio-fertilisers on farmer's field. Legume Res. (23):277–278.

Shurleff, W. and Aoyagi, A. (2007). History of soybeans and soy foods around the world. A chapter of an unpublished manuscript, History of soybeans and soy foods: 1100 B.C. to the 1980s. copyright 2007 Soyinfo Center, Lafayette, Califonia.

Shurleff, W. and Aoyagi, A. (2009). History of soybeans and soyfoods in Africa, 91857-2009). Soyinfo Center. ISBN: 978-19289114-25-9. Lafayette, CA.

Sinclair, R. T., Purcell, C.L., King, C.A., Sneller, C.H., Chen, P. and Vadez,
V. (2007). Drought tolerance and yield increase of soybean resulting from improved symbiotic N₂ fixation. Field crops research, vol 101, pp. 68-71.

Singleton, P.W. and Tavares, J.W. (1986). Inoculation response of legumes in relation to the number and effectiveness of indigenous rhizobium population. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 51:1013 – 1018. Anonymous, (2004 a). Field Pea-Production and management. In: Crops Manitoba Agriculture, Food and Rural Initiatives, Manitoba, Canada.

Sinha, M. P. (1997). Recent advances in ecobiogical research. Vol 1. P. 235.
Smith, C.W. (1995). Crop production: Evolution, History and Technology.
Copyright at 1995, John Wiley and Sons Inc. ISBN: 0-471-07972-3, P.3364.

Solomon, T., Pant, M.L. and Angaw, T. (2012). Effects of inoculation by *Bradyrhizobiun japonicum* strains nodulation, nitrogen fixation and yield of soybean (*Glysine max* L. Merril) varieties on Nitisols of Bako, western Ethiopia. International scholarly research. Volume 2012(2012). Available online at http://dx.doi.org/10.5402/2012/26147.

Somasegaran, P. and Hoben, H.J. (1994). Handbook for Rhizobia: Methods in legume - Rhizobium technology. Springer – Verkag, New York, USA, p 366. Sosulski, M., Ocana, A. and Lich, C. (1989). Effect of salt stress on growth photosynthesis and nitrogen fixation in chipea (*Cicer aretinum* L.). Journal of Experimental Botany.49:1329-1337.

Soybean production guidelines, (2010). Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. republic of south africa. Soybean production in Ghana. Paper presented at a radio program on soybean in Ghana 6pages.

Soytech (2015). Soyfacts. Available online at <u>www.soyfacts.com.soy_facts.htm</u> Stefanescu, M., and Palanciuc, V. (2000). Efficiency of bacterial inoculation and mineral nitrogen and phosphorus fertilization in rainfed soybean. Roma. Agric. Res., 13-14, 75-83.

Stephen J.H.G and Rask H.M. (2000) .Inoculant production and formulation. Field crops Res 65:249-258.

Tahir, M M., Abbasi,M.K., Rahim, N., Khaliq, A. and Kazmi M.H. (2009). Effect of Rhizobium inoculation and NP fertilization on growth, yield and nodulation of soybean (glycine max l.) in the sub-humid hilly region of Rawalakot Azad Jammu and Kashmir, Pakistan. African Journal of Biotechnology Vol. 8 (22), pp 6191

Tairo, E. V. and Ndakidemi, P.A. (2013). Yields and economic benefits of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) as affected by *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* inoculation and phosphorus supplementation. American Journal of Research Communication, 1(11): 159-172. www.usa-journals.com, ISSN: 2325-4076.

Tefera, H. (2011). Breeding promiscuous soybean at IITA, soybean- molecular aspects of breeding, Alekandra Saudaric (ed.), ISBN: 978-953-307-240-1, in tech, available from <u>http://ww.intechnopen.com/books/soybean-molecularaspects-of-breeding-for-promiscous-soybean-at -iita</u>

Ulzen, J. (2013). Assessing The Need For Inoculation Of Soybean And Cowpea At Tono In The Kassena Nankana District Of The Upper East Region Of Ghana. Msc thesis, KNUST.

Unkovich, M. Herrridge, D.F., Peoples, M.B., Cadisch, G., Boddey, R. M., Giller, K. E., Alves, B. and Chalk, P. M (2008). Measuring plant-associated nitrogen fixation in agricultural systems. ACIAR Monograph. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research, Canberra, AU.

Valinejad, M., Vaseghi, S. and Afzali, M. (2013). Starter nitrogen fertilizer impact on soybean yield and quality. International journal of engineering and advanced technology. 3(1): 2249-8958.

van Jaarsveld, C.M., Smit, M.A and Kruger, G.H.J. (2002). Interaction amongst soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merill). Genotype, soil type and inoculants strains with regards to N₂ fiaxtion. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science. 188: 206-211.

Vincent, J. M. (1970). A manual for the practical study of root nodule – bacterial. Blackwell Scientific Publications. Oxford. In: Thies, J. E., Singleton, P. W. and Bohlool, B. B. (1991). Influence of the size of indigenous rhizobial population on establishment and symbiotic performance of introduced rhizobia on field-grown legumes. Applied and Environment Microbiology 38:

493 - 500.

Wafaa, W. M., El-Marakby, A. M., Abdel-Halim, A. A., and Afaf, M. T. (2002). Evaluation of performance and stability of some soybean genotypesunder different environments. Annuals of Agricultural Science (Cairo), 47(2), 621-640.

Wesley, T. L., R. E. Lamond, V. L. Martin, and Duncan, S. R. (1999). Applied N at R3 stage bumps soybean yields. Fluid J. 7:16-19.

Wood, C.W., Torbet, H.A. and Weaver, D.B. (1993). Fertilizer effects on soybean growth, yield and seed composition. J. Prod. Agric. 6: 354-360.

Woomer, P. L., Martin, A. Albrecht, D. V. S. Resek and Scharpenseel.
(1994). The importance and management of soil organic matter in the tropics. Pp
47-80. In: The biological management of the soil fertility (eds.): Woomer, P. L. and Swift, M. J. Swift. Chichester Uk John Wiley and Sons.

Wu–Y.H. and Wu, Y.W. (1996). Study on the effect of yield increase by inoculation of Rhizobium japonicum combined with application of phosphate fertilizer to soybean Acta. Agric. Bor– eali – Sci., 11: 32–5

Yagmur, M. and Kaydan D. (2011). Plant growth and protein ratio of spring sown chickpea with various combinations of rhizobium inoculation, nitrogen fertilizer and irrigation under rainfed condition. African Journal of Agricultural

Research 6(12): 2648-2654. Available online at <u>http://www.academicjournals.org/AJAR</u>

Yinbo, G., Peoples, M. B., and Rerkasem, B. (1997). The effect of N fertilizer strategy on N₂ fixation, growth and yield of vegetable soybean. Field crops research, 51(3), 221-229.

Zahran, H.H. (1999). Rhizobium- legume symbiosis and nitrogen fixation under severe conditons in arid climate. A review, Microbiology and molecular biology reviews.63(4): 968-989.

Zhang, H., Charles, T.C., Driscoll, B., Prithiviraj, T. and Smith, D.L. (2002). Low temperature-tolerant *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* strains allowing improved soybean yield in short-season. Agronomy Journal. 94: 870-875.

Zhao, X., Zheng, S.H. and Arima, S. (2014). Influence of Nitrogen Enrichment during Reproductive Growth Stage on Leaf Nitrogen Accumulation and Seed Yield in Soybean. Plant Prod. Sci.17 (3): 209–217.

Zhou, X.-J., Liang, Y., Chen, H., Shen, S.-H. and Jing Y.-X. (2006). Effects of rhizobia inoculation and nitrogen fertilization on photosynthetic physiology of soybean. Photosynthetica 44(4): 530-535.



APPENDIX

Analysis of variance

Variate: EFF

| Source of variation d.f. s.s. m.s. v.r. F | pr. nitrog | gen 5 11359.70 | 2271.94 | 99.26 <.001 variety 2 |
|---|------------|-----------------|---------|-----------------------|
| 53.93 26.96 1.18 0.319 nitrogen.vari | ety 10 25 | 8.96 25.90 1.13 | 3 0.367 | |
| Residual | 36 | 824.00 | 22.89 | |
| Total | 53 | 12496.59 | \sim | |

-9.33

s.e. 3.91

Message: the following units have large residuals.

units 8

Tables of means

Grand mean 44.37

| nitroge | n 2 | 1 27.56 | 2 48.67 | 3 34.33 | 4 | 4 60.56 | 5 64.56 | 6 30.56 |
|---|------------|------------|------------|------------|---|------------|------------|------------|
| variet | у 4 | 1 5.56 | 2 43.11 | 3 44.44 | 4 | | 222 | |
| niti | rogen vari | iety 1 | 2 | 3 | 1 | | | |
| 26.67 27 | .67 28. | 33 | | 17 | - | - | | |
| 2 | | 50.00 | 46.33 | 49.67 | ~ | | | |
| 3 | 1 | 37.67 | 29.67 | 35.67 | _ | | | |
| 4 | 12 | 66.33 | 59.00 | 56.33 | - | | 3 | 12 |
| 5 | 5 | 63.33 | 65.67 | 64.67 | | | - | 121 |
| 6 | | 29.33 | 30.33 | 32.00 | | | - | 24 |
| | | AA | 22 | 2 | | | S | BADT |
| Standard errors of differences of means | | | | | | | | |

Standard errors of differences of means

| Table | nitroge | n variety | nitrogen | | variety rep. | 9 | 18 | 3 | d.f. |
|--------|---------|-----------|----------|-------|--------------|---|----|---|------|
| 36 | 36 | 36 | | | | | | | |
| s.e.d. | | | 2.255 | 1.595 | 3.906 | | | | |

Least significant differences of means (5% level)

 Table
 nitrogen variety
 nitrogen
 variety
 rep.
 9
 18
 3
 d.f.
 36
 36
 36

 l.s.d.
 4.574
 3.234
 7.922

Stratum standard errors and coefficients of variation

Variate: EFF

| d.f. | s.e. | cv% | |
|------|-------|------|--|
| 36 | 4.784 | 10.8 | |

276 "General Analysis of Variance."

277 BLOCK "No Blocking"

- 278 TREATMENTS nitrogen*variety
- 279 COVARIATE "No Covariate"
- 280 ANOVA [PRINT=aovtable,information,means,%cv; FACT=32; CONTRASTS=7;

ATRISAD CORSERVE

- PCONTRASTS=7; FPROB=yes;\
- 281 PSE=diff,lsd; LSDLEVEL=5] Hsw_g

BADW

NO